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Characteristics of GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Exchange”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a high investment risk may
be attached than other companies listed on the Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in
such companies and should make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may

be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a
liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (“the board”) of directors (the “directors”),
| hereby present the annual results for ITE (Holdings) Limited (the
“company”) and its subsidiaries (together, “ITE” or the “group”) for the
year ended 31 March 2022 (the “year”).

Mission

The mission of the group is to become the leading provider of innovation
technology products, solutions and professional services in the market.
ITE has been pioneering and has achieved outstanding performance in
the areas of smartcard, radio frequency identification (“RFID”) solutions
and integration services in the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region (“Hong Kong” or “HKSAR"), the Macao Special Administrative
Region (“Macao”) and the People’s Republic of China (“PRC") since our
establishment. With profound expertise, strong research and development
("R&D") capability, proven track record and excellent reputation, the
Group has established a leading profile in our industry and has adopted
a proactive approach to develop and introduce innovative products and
customized multi-applications solutions to our clients. Heading for the
future, ITE endeavours to develop and deploy smart city solutions and
applications building on innovation, technology and excellence so as to
meet the needs of smart cities and contribute to public health and well-
being as well as sustainability.

Appreciation
| would like to take this opportunity to express my deepest thanks to my

directors, management and staff for their dedication and hard work, and
shareholders, financiers and business partners for their continued support.

Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent

Chairman

Hong Kong, 17 June 2022
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

ESNGREEEBE

Directors
Executive Directors

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent, aged 58, is an Executive Director, Chief
Executive Officer and one of the founders of the group. He is responsible
for overall strategic planning and management of the group. With over
35 years of experience in the executive management, he was engaged
in China trade before founding the group. Mr. Lau graduated from The
University of Hong Kong with a first class honours Degree of Bachelor
of Science in Mechanical Engineering. He holds a number of invention
patents and has led many research and development projects under the
funding schemes of the Innovation Technology Commission of Hong Kong
Government. He is the industrial advisors to the Engineering Departments
of The City University of Hong Kong and The University of Hong Kong.

Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung, aged 59, is an Executive Director and one of
the founders of the group. He is responsible for technical management
and research and development (R&D). With 38 years of experience in R&D
and production management, Mr. Cheng won the awards of the Hong
Kong Awards for Industry for seven times (two Machinery and Equipment
Design in 2005 and 2007, one Consumer Product Design in each of 1993,
2000 and 2001 and two Designs in 1997). He holds a Higher Diploma in
Electronics Engineering from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University.

Mr. Liu Hoi Wah, aged 53, is an Executive Director of the group. He
is responsible for financial management, accounting and corporate
development. Mr. Liu graduated from The London School of Economics
and Political Science of the University of London with a Bachelor of
Science degree, first class honours in Management Sciences. He is an
associate member of each of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales (“ICAEW") and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA™). Mr. Liu is the younger brother of Mr. Lau
Hon Kwong, Vincent.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony, aged 56, is the Managing Director of
Anthony Kam & Associates Limited, Certified Public Accountants. Mr.
Kam has been awarded an Honorary Fellowship from the University of
Wolverhampton, the United Kingdom. He is a Certified Public Accountant
qualified in the Mainland China and Hong Kong China. Mr. Kam has over
33 years' experience in auditing, accounting and tax matters, both in
private and public companies.

Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew, oBE. (Hon), P, aged 78, holds a Bachelor of
Arts (Honours) degree in literature from The University of Hong Kong and
a Master of Public Administration degree from the Syracuse University,
USA. He was formerly a member of the Legislative Council from 1985 to
2004 and was also the President of the Legislative Council from 1995 to
1997. Mr. Wong had been lecturing at the Chinese University of Hong
Kong since 1970 and is now retired.

Mr. Wai Hing Cheung, aged 62, holds a Bachelor's degree in Arts
(Honours) from The Chinese University of Hong Kong and a Master of
Social Science degree from the University of Hong Kong. He has been
working in the information technology sector with over twenty years’
experience in the telecom and communications industry. He is the
chairman of the Asia Data Center Alliance and at the same time serving
the Hong Kong community as a District Councillor for more than two

decades.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEERWR DT

Management of the group has continued to utilise our professional and
committed workforce and financial resources to achieve maximum return
to our shareholders.

Business Review

During the year, we reached milestones and made achievements in
business, R&D, environment protection, and enhancement of public
health.

A wholly-owned subsidiary of ours, a solution and professional service
provider, ITE Smartcard Solutions Limited, has successfully completed
the “Contract for Management, Operation and Maintenance of the
("“CMOM") for the Transport Department of
HKSAR Government. Throughout the past three years’ contract term,

Parking Meter System”

we managed to develop and apply rechargeable lithium battery packs
to replace alkaline battery cells to power the parking meters and
establish and deploy an electric vehicle fleet, consisting of electric vans,
car and motorcycle, to support the service needs under the CMOM.
The accumulated distance travelled by our electric vehicle fleet was
nearly 500,000 km. The foregoing environmental measures have saved
approximately 1,000,000 pieces of alkaline battery D-cells from ending
up in the landfill and significantly reduced our carbon footprint and

emissions.

Our R&D arm, RF Tech Limited, has completed the project “Design and
development of Intelligent Contactless Reader with Internet of Things (IoT)
device interface for smart city applications” under the Enterprise Support
Scheme launched by the Innovation and Technology Commission. In this
project commencing in 2019, RF Tech’s proprietarily developed contactless
reader, EMV100 Contactless Reader 1.00, successfully obtained approval
and certification from institutions including EMVCo, Visa, Mastercard and

UnionPay.

.o ITE (Holdings) Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22 &%

FEBMERABBREIXEND  SEETHANKMK
R - RERAIRZ&RSHER -

EH O

FA - BMEEE  TE
ER R BSKH -

RER -

A

AEERHARREERBHNEZETAR  ERZGAR
AR BERTREBENITREBTERE M ABERE
AEHER  ZEREEAN - EBE=ZFHANEN
HAPIR TN BA % REA T TR E WA - RIS IEE D AE

BIRGHE  TEYEAR-—BHEHEESE n%ﬁ
MEREMARNERER  UXBAOTHRET K -
BHEK R RBERI500,0002 8 o LL%%%M@%
1,000,000 FE D& fi £ Tt e PAHELE - B R A K AP 80 ik 2
IR R HERL o

KB FMER T AR » RF Tech Limited @ B 5 AIFTRE
RECXZEFE TR RAEEERFERAERSER
HYB @R EZEOESRMMERIER - # Vif 2019
FRMAMIEE @ RF TechBEMENIFEBALEFESS
EMV100 Contactless Reader 1.006%31&/SEMVCo * Visa *
BEER - RESHBORANRE



Management Discussion and Analysis

Another wholly-owned subsidiary focusing on providing innovation
technology and smart city solutions, ITE Engineering Limited, has
developed and delivered the technological product solution “An Integrated
Solution for the Detection/Diagnosis/Surveillance of Hygiene Conditions
and Deep Cleansing of Public Toilets and Facilities”, with support from
the Innovation and Technology Commission under the “Public Sector
Trial Scheme — Special Call for Projects for the Prevention and Control of
Coronavirus Disease 2019 in Hong Kong”. We have conducted multiple
trials in the local public sector, including government departments, local
universities, and public organisations, to help Hong Kong combat the
COVID-19 pandemic and enhance public hygiene.

In the meantime, we remain committed to serving our existing clients
and supporting the ongoing projects. Apart from the continued support
for multiple hospitals and clinics under the management of the Hospital
Authority as in the past many years, we have also been supporting the
implementation and operation of the self-service library stations of the
Leisure and Cultural Services Department since 2017. The self-service
library stations, located at Island East Sports Centre Sitting-out Area, the
Hong Kong Cultural Centre and Tsuen Nam Road, Tai Wai, are highly
flexible and able to serve the public round-the-clock, complementing
existing library services, especially during the pandemic period when public
libraries are temporarily closed.

As headwinds remain, with challenges posed by the resurgence of
COVID-19, we are still cautious and vigilant over business prospects.
Despite all odds, we spare no effort to put forward innovative solutions
to create positive social and environmental impacts and adopt improved
environmental practices to reduce damage to the environment arising
from our business operation. We endeavour to make progress in
innovating applications and solutions and providing more professional

services to serve our communities.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

DT

SREI =R

Future Prospect

Since our establishment, we have been focusing on our core business and
technologies, we continue to devote our efforts and resources for the
long term growth of the group building on our Innovation, Technology
and Excellency; three words which best explain ITE.

All members performed professionally under the corporate vision,
mission and core values. Every year, new intellectual assets are created,
accumulated and protected, and the range of professional services
continues to expand to meet the fast growing needs of the changing
world. We have firmly maintained our position as the pure rider to provide

innovative solutions to our clients.
Key Risks and Uncertainties

The group'’s insurance may be insufficient to cover all losses associated
with its business operations. The group maintains insurance policies
against loss or damage to its office and business interruption, public
liability and employees’ compensation. The insurance coverage may be
insufficient to cover all the risks associated with the group’s business
and operations in the future. In the case of an uninsured loss or a loss in
excess of insured limit, including those caused by natural disasters and
other events beyond the group’s control, the group may be required to
pay for losses, damages and liabilities out of its own funds, which could
materially and adversely affect its business, financial condition and results
of operations. Even if the insurance coverage is adequate to cover its
direct losses, the group may need to be responsible for the indirect losses.
Furthermore, claim records of the group may affect the premiums which
insurance companies charge in the future.

Despite of the above, the group considers that the current insurance
coverage is sufficient for its existing operation scale and the group will
review its insurance policies from time to time.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

As far as the board of directors of the company and management are
aware, the group has complied in material respects with the relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the business and
operation of the group. During the year, there was no material breach of
or non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Financial Performance

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the group recorded a revenue of
approximately HK$33 million, representing a decrease of 34% over last
year. Profits for the year attributable to owners of the company for the
year ended 31 March 2022 was approximately HK$6 million as compared
to that of approximately HK$8 million for last year.

Segmental Information

During the year, the group recorded a decrease in revenue for about
34% when compared with last year and the group’s gross profit margin
improved from 33% to 42%.

The service revenue generated from core business, i.e. the provision of
the smartcard systems, RFID and information technology (“IT") services
and related sales, was HK$22,689,009 (2021: HK$40,414,241) which
decreased by 44%. The significant decrease was mainly due to the
completion of term period of the “Contract for Management, Operation
and Maintenance of Parking Meter System” of the Transport Department
of HKSAR on 19 January 2022. On the other hand, the income from
maintenance services increased by 7% to HK$9,966,975 (2021:
HK$9,335,637).

The group’s administrative expenses decreased by 10% to HK$9,478,342
(2021: HK$10,574,555). Included in administrative expenses, the research
and development cost and associated sponsorship was significant
decreased by 21% to HK$991,238 (2021: HK$1,259,247). Expenditure
on research and development activities was totally expensed in profit or
loss during the year. The decrease in administrative expenses was also
attributable to the decrease in depreciation expense and supporting staff
cost.

During the year, the group’s finance cost was HK$128,356 (2021:
HK$391,020) which related to finance charges on lease liabilities (2021:
interest on loans from related parties and finance charges on lease
liabilities). The decrease was mainly due to paying off loans from related
parties in last year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B IR B wm M AT

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The group generally financed its operations with its internally generated
cash flows. At 31 March 2022, the current ratio of the group was 4.08
(2021: 2.69) while the liquidity ratio was 4.00 (2021: 2.56). The overall
financial and liquidity positions of the group remained at a stable and
healthy level.

The group continues to adopt a conservative approach in its treasury
policy. The group strives to reduce exposure to credit risk by performing
ongoing credit evaluations of the financial condition of its customers.
Besides, the group’s liquidity and financing arrangements are also

reviewed regularly.

Taking into consideration the stringent cost control and the existing
financial resources available to the group, it is believed that the group
should have adequate financial resources to meet its operation,
development requirements and investments in the future.

Capital Structure

The capital of the company only comprises ordinary shares and there is no
change in the capital structure of the group during the year.

Gearing Ratio

At 31 March 2022, the gearing ratio of the group, which is calculated as
the ratio of total borrowings to total equity, was nil (2021: nil).

Treasury Policy

The group has adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policies and thus maintained a healthy liquidity
position throughout the period under review. The group strives to reduce
exposure to credit risk by performing ongoing credit assessments and
evaluations of the financial status of its customers. To manage liquidity
risk, the board closely monitors the group’s liquidity position to ensure
that the liquidity structure of the group’s assets, liabilities and other
commitments can meet its funding requirements from time to time.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Significant Investments
The group had no significant investments during the year under review.

Material Acquisitions or Disposals of Subsidiaries
and Affiliated Companies

During the year under review, the group had no material acquisitions and
disposals of subsidiaries and affiliated companies.

Employment Information

The group recognises that its staff is one of the group’s most important
assets. Aiming at providing competitive salary packages, the group
adjusts employees’ salary level in close association with the performance,
qualifications and experience of individual staff as well as labour market
conditions. In addition to the regular remuneration, discretionary bonus
and share options may be awarded to eligible employees with reference

to individual performance and the group’s business performance.

The group enjoys good relations with its staff and has not experienced any
disruption of operations due to major labour disputes. In addition to the
remuneration as mentioned above, the group also provides fringe benefits
which comply with the relevant laws and regulations of Hong Kong
including contributions to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme. Besides,
the group also provides on-going training programmes for its employees
to keep them abreast of the latest market trends and new technologies.

At 31 March 2022, the group had 24 (2021: 84) full-time employees and
all are based in Hong Kong. Staff costs, including directors’ remuneration,
was approximately HK$17 million (2021: HK$27 million) for the year
ended 31 March 2022.

Charges on Group Assets

At 31 March 2022, US$1,482,847 (equivalent to HK$11,565,893) (2021:
US$1,482,163 (equivalent to HK$11,560,594)) time deposit was pledged
to a bank to secure certain banking facilities of a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the company.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIEE m&E O

Future Plans for Material Investments HENEXKRETE

The group did not have any plans for material investment and acquisiton AEER=_T_—F=A=+—HUIWEFREKNIEE KK
of material capital assets as at 31 March 2022. BEREREENTE -

Exposure to Fluctuations in Exchange Rates and & 25 B J& b & {E A /B BA ¥ P 5 e
Related Hedges

The group’s assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses are mainly AEBEWEE B  KWEZRFAXTIEUBT =7 B
denominated in HK$, United States dollars (“US$"), Japanese Yen (“JPY"), o BZERAREAEN - B Ex Ao RERA
British Pound (“GBP”) and Renminbi (“RMB”). The exchange rates REMNEREBEHFRBEHTOBE - FA » AEEB
between HK$, US$, JPY, GBP and RMB have been very steady for the past —RFIEFHERAUASZMEEEEEARY - ZZFWEL
few years. During the year, the group generally used the receipts from LA B A Rl & T MM EHEHETT - HRAEER ABY
customers to pay its suppliers and meet its capital requirements. They are  JREZHERR A ST - B A S E B AT &R i
denominated in the local currency of the place in which the subsidiaries MR &IEENEXRRR - AT SEESHFNEEEE -
operate. The group does not currently engage in hedging to manage  TEFEEZRERIE R BATEHRFH EZRHEEREREE o

possible exchange rate risk as the group considers the cost associated

with such hedging arrangements would exceed the benefits. However,

management will continue to monitor the possible exposure to exchange

rate risk and will take such measures as it deems prudent.

Contingent Liability RREE
At 31 March 2022, the company did not have any contingent liability. RZZZZF=A=+—8 ' ARREEEMIABE -
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The company is firmly committed to maintaining statutory and regulatory
standards and adherence to the principles of corporate governance
emphasising transparency, independence, accountability, responsibility and
fairness. The board ensures that effective self-regulatory practices exist to
protect the interests of the shareholders of the company.

The company has applied the principles and complied with all the code
provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”)
contained in Appendix 15 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “GEM
Listing Rules”) throughout the year ended 31 March 2022, save for the
deviations discussed below.

From 1 January 2022, certain amendments to the Corporate Governance
Code (the “New Code") came into effect and the requirements under the
New Code will apply to all listed issuers for financial year commencing on
or after 1 January 2022. The board will continue to review and enhance
the corporate governance practice of the company to ensure compliance
with the New Code and align with the latest developments.

The board is responsible for performing the functions and duties set
out in code provision A.2.1 of the Code. The terms of reference of the
board include developing and reviewing the company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance and make recommendations to the
board; reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management; reviewing and
monitoring the company'’s policies and practices on compliance with legal
and regulatory requirements; developing, reviewing and monitoring the
code of conduct and compliance manual applicable to employees and
directors; and reviewing the company’s compliance with the Code and

disclosure in the corporate governance report.

Under the code provision C.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer should be separated and should not be performed
by the same individual. The division of responsibilities between the
chairman and chief executive officer should be clearly established and set

out in writing.
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Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent is both the chairman and chief executive
officer of the company who is responsible for managing the board and
the group’s business. Mr. Lau has been both chairman and chief executive
officer of the company since its incorporation. The board considers that,
with the present board structure and scope of business of the group,
there is no imminent need to separate the roles into two individuals as
Mr. Lau is perfectly capable of distinguishing the priority of these roles
in which he has been acting. However, the board will continue to review
the effectiveness of the group’s corporate governance structure to assess
whether the separation of the positions of chairman and chief executive
officer is necessary.

Under the code provision B.2.2 stipulates that non-executive directors
should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election. However,
the non-executive directors do not have a specific term of appointment,
but are subject to rotation in accordance with the articles of association
of the company. As such, the company considers that sufficient measures
have been taken to serve the purpose of the code provision B.2.2 of the
Code.

The company has not arranged any insurance coverage for the directors’
liabilities in respect of any potential legal actions against the directors.
Given the nature of the company’s business, directors believe that the
occurring of legal actions against the directors is very slight, and the
company still can achieve excellent corporate governance through various
management and monitoring mechanism so as to reduce such risks, such
as periodic review on the effectiveness of internal control system, clear
division of duties and providing training for staffs and the management.
The board will review, on a regular basis, the necessity to arrange
insurance cover for potential legal actions against the directors.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The company has adopted a code of conduct regarding directors’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the required
standard of dealings as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules throughout the year ended 31 March 2022. Having made specific
enquiry of all directors, the directors have complied with such code of
conduct and the required standard of dealings and there was no non-
compliance with the required standard of dealings throughout the year
ended 31 March 2022.
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Board of Directors
Board Composition

The board, which currently comprises three executive directors and
three independent non-executive directors, is responsible for the overall
strategic planning and business development of the group. Details of
the directors are set in the section “Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management” of this report. All directors give sufficient time and
attention to the affairs of the group. To the best knowledge of the board,
there is no financial, business and family relationship among the members
of the board except that Mr. Liu Hoi Wah is the younger brother of Mr.

Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent.

The board should have a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the company’s business,
and should ensure that the directors devote sufficient time and make
contributions to the company that are commensurate with their role and
board responsibilities. It should ensure that changes to its composition
can be managed without undue disruption. It should include a balanced
composition of executive and non-executive directors (including
independent non-executive directors) so that there is a strong independent
element on the board, which can effectively exercise independent
judgement. Non-executive directors should be of sufficient calibre and

number for their views to carry weight.

Mechanisms, including regular meetings and various communication and
engagement channels, have been established to ensure independent
views and input are available to the board. The board should review the
implementation and effectiveness of such mechanisms on an annual basis.

TERERME

Exg
EERMEN

Ll EERH-RNTEER=RBIUFATESAE
X BEASEREREBNERER EFNFEE
HOENAREET EEREREEERE] —BH -
—EFDEEMNH R AR RS AEE AN EENET -
HREFGAA  BREBELEDIERTENBERI  #
BEZEKBENYE  EBRRBRARK -

EFeRBRBEARBAEGMABEEMTRS £RES
BONBHEAR  YRERSESEREACKREEZER
BRARARRARHEFEILIELTR - EEGEREREA
RAENEHTEERTNEENTE -EFSPHTES
HINTEEZ (BRBYIIFNTES) WESBZREFN
& AGEES LAERANBYITE © BEHARUIEL B
STHET o FERITERRARHT BIAL - UEHEERA
BYED -

ARAREHERS  SEEHASERZEBERE - Ui
REZGUESBUNBMIER EFSREFRIZ
T B0 B e A R -

ITE (Holdings) Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22 3§ o.



Corporate Governance Report
TERERWS

Independent Non-executive Directors

Independent non-executive directors and other non-executive directors
should make a positive contribution to the development of the company’s
strategy and policies through independent, constructive and informed
comments. The functions of non-executive directors should include
participating in board meetings to bring an independent judgement to
bear on issues of strategy, policy, performance, accountability, resources,
key appointments and standards of conduct; taking the lead where
potential conflicts of interests arise; serving on the audit, remuneration,
nomination and other governance committees, if invited; and scrutinising
the group’s performance in achieving agreed corporate goals and
objectives, and monitoring performance reporting.

The independent non-executive directors, Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony
and Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew, have been serving the board as
independent non-executive directors for more than nine years and have
consistently demonstrated their willingness to exercise independent
judgments and provide objective challenges to management. Each of their
further appointments has been subject to a separate resolution, in which
their background, experience, qualification, general market conditions and
the company's articles of association have been reviewed. The nomination
committee considered that both of them have actively participated in
board meetings and board committee meetings held during the year and
have shown themselves able to give constructive and independent advice
to the board over significant issues. Therefore, the nomination committee
considered that they remain independent and should be re-elected,
notwithstanding the length of their tenure as independent non-executive

directors.

All independent non-executive directors, do not have any business or
significant financial interests with the group and each of them have
confirmed their independence to the group pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the
GEM Listing Rules. Based on the above-mentioned, the board considers
that all independent non-executive directors are independent as required
under the GEM Listing Rules.
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Board Diversity Policy

The board has adopted the board diversity policy with a view to achieve
a sustainable and balanced development of the group. In designing the
board’s composition, board diversity has been considered from various
aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. All appointments to the board will be based on
meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against objective criteria,
having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the board. This diversity
policy is reviewed annually by the nomination committee of the company,
and where appropriate, revisions will be made with the approval from the
board.

With the various experience of both the executive directors and the
independent non-executive directors and the nature of the group's
business, the board considers that the directors have a balance of skills
and experience for the business of the group.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Each newly appointed director shall receive a comprehensive, formal
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment.
Subsequently, he/she shall receive briefing and professional development
necessary to ensure that he/she has appropriate understanding of the
business and operation of the group and that he/she is aware of his/her
responsibilities and obligations under statute and common law, the GEM
Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory requirements and the issuer’s
business and governance policies.

All directors shall participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills so as to ensure that their
contribution to the board remains informed and relevant. The company
shall arrange and fund suitable training, placing an appropriate emphasis
on the roles, functions and duties of a listed company director. All
directors have been updated on the latest developments regarding the
GEM Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements to ensure
compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate governance
practices. Continuing briefings and professional development to directors
will be arranged wherever necessary.

TERERME

EFEZNEE

REDAFENGBEER ~AEEEZSICRNEFTSTNK
BETEEE - RlFIEFeXSEAK @ geZ @@
EREZFEKEZ L BRETRNMEL - Fik - XL
RBEER Rk BELR - K DERRBEDS -
EZSMAZEAUNRAST BREA - WHEZBAERE A
EBGRERAIBREFTEREZT(EM#aE - ARARIIE
FEEEEFRIZTERER  URESSHAEFEHES

E&T e

BENEATEERBYFRTESRANEREAEE
MEBHE  EFSRRZEFNEAEENLERTTRE
5807 RIS S KO

ESHNFESXRRRE

EHETNEFTHENARETRESEZA  EXFER
HifBROBMERM  HERTESAFTNONERERER
UEREBAEBHERLEFEAEZNER  ARxE
FBARG LR R ERBZE - GEMEMRA - AR R HEMES
EREUNRARENREREARR THBE -

ARABBERESFD2EBEIXER  ABERIETHMAE
M Riee  UBRREESEAGEEEMARIEMFELN
BERATHEZSELER - ARFEAB LS ENIZI
WRHEBELE  URBUEELTARNESNAS B
BEREE - 2REZNCERUAMGEM EMRA R EM
EREERAENRMIERER MRS RILIMERE
HRECEERAFANERE -NBEER  TERAESLH
SEEHIERER -

ITE (Holdings) Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22 3§ o.



Corporate Governance Report
TERERWS

Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance

The board has established three committees, namely, the audit committee
(the "audit committee”), the remuneration committee (the “remuneration
committee”) and the nomination committee (the “nomination
committee”) with delegated powers for overseeing particular aspects of
the company’s affairs. Each of the committees of the company has been

established with written terms of reference.

The board meets regularly at least four times a year at approximately
quarterly intervals. Such regular meetings will normally involve the active
participation, either in person or through other electronic means of
communication, of a majority of directors entitled to be present. When
directors or committee members are unable to attend a meeting, they will
be advised of the matters to be discussed and given an opportunity to

present their views to the chairman prior to the meeting.

Apart from regular board meetings, the chairman also held meetings/
discussed with independent non-executive directors without the presence

of other directors during the year.

During regular meetings of the board, the directors discuss and formulate
the overall strategies of the group, monitor financial performances and
discuss the annual, interim and quarterly results, conduct evaluation of
its performance, and discuss and decide on other significant matters.
Execution of daily operational matters is delegated to management. The
arrangements should be reviewed annually to ensure that they remain
appropriate to the company’s needs.

Notice of regular board meeting is usually given at least 14 days in
advance to give all directors an opportunity to attend. An agenda for each
board meeting will be prepared and normally distributed to the directors
together with necessary board papers and related materials at least three
days before the board meeting. Directors are free to add any items on
the agenda as they may think fit. For all other board and committee
meetings, reasonable notice is generally given. All other schedules and the
relevant information of each board and committee meeting are generally
made available to directors or committee members at least three days in
advance.
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The company secretary is responsible for recording the matters considered
and decisions reached by the board including any concerns or dissenting
views raised by directors. Minutes of board meetings and the board
committees meetings will be sent to all directors for their comments and
records as soon as after the board meeting. Such minutes are kept by the
company secretary and are open for inspection at any reasonable time on
reasonable notice by any director.

Management is responsible for supplying the board and its committees
with adequate information, in a timely manner, to enable it to make
informed decisions. The information supplied must be complete
and reliable. To fulfil their duties properly, directors may not, in all
circumstances, be able to rely purely on information provided voluntarily
by management and they may need to make further enquiries. Where any
director requires more information than is volunteered by management,
that director should make further enquiries where necessary. The board
and individual directors have separate and independent access to the
company's senior management.

All directors have access to relevant and timely information, and they can
ask for further information or obtain independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances, at the company’s expense. The board should
resolve to provide separate independent professional advice to directors
to assist them perform their duties to the company. They also have
unrestricted access to the advice and service of the company secretary,
who is responsible for providing directors with board papers and related
materials and ensuring that board procedures, and all applicable law, rules
and regulations, are followed.

Should a potential conflict of interest involving a substantial shareholder
or director arise, the matter is discussed in a physical meeting, as opposed
to being dealt with by written resolution. Independent non-executive
directors with no conflict of interest are present at meetings dealing with
conflict issues. Board committees, including the audit, remuneration and
nomination committees, all follow the applicable practices and procedures
used in board meetings for committee meetings.
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Attendance/Number of Meetings

HERE S EBRBTRH
Board Audit Remuneration Nomination
meeting Committee Committee Committee
Name of directors EEpE E=ge3 EREEE ymEse REEE®
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent BIES et 4/4 N/A 11 11
TEMA
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung B R 2 4 A 4/4 N/A N/A N/A
TEMA i A TEMA
Mr. Liu Hoi Wah 2IgELLE 4/4 N/A N/A N/A
TERA NiE A TEMA
Independent non-executive directors B IEHITESE
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony RO RS A 4/4 4/4 11 m”n
Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew BREEE 4/4 4/4 11 1
Mr. Wai Hing Cheung BEESEE 4/4 4/4 11 11

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The roles and functions of the chairman include providing leadership
for the board; ensure that all directors are properly briefed on issues
arising at board meetings; ensuring that directors receive, in a timely
manner, adequate information, which must be accurate, clear, complete
and reliable; ensuring that the board works effectively and performs its
responsibilities, and that all key and appropriate issues are discussed by
it in a timely manner; drawing up and approving the agenda for each
board meeting; ensuring that good corporate governance practices and
procedures are established; encouraging all directors to make a full and
active contribution to the board’s affairs and taking the lead to ensure
that it acts in the best interests of the company; encouraging directors
with different views to voice their concerns, allowing sufficient time for
discussion of issues and ensure that board decisions fairly reflect board
consensus; at least annually holding meetings with the independent non-
executive directors without the presence of other directors; ensuring that
appropriate steps are taken to provide effective communication with
shareholders and that their views are communicated to the board as a
whole; promoting a culture of openness and debate by facilitating the
effective contribution of non-executive directors in particular and ensuring
constructive relations between executive and non-executive directors. The
chief executive should be responsible for the day-to-day management of
business.
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The Code stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive officer
should be separated and should not be performed by the same individual.
The company did not segregate the roles of the chairman and chief
executive officer. The role of the chief executive officer was performed
by Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent, who was the existing chairman of the
company during the year under review. Apart from the reason of such
deviation mentioned above, the board also believes that vesting the roles
of both chairman and chief executive officer in the same person provides
the company with strong and consistent leadership, and allows for
effective and efficient planning and implementation of business decisions
and strategies.

The board will periodically review the merits and demerits of such
management structure and will adopt such appropriate measures as may
be necessary in the future taking into consideration the nature and extent
of the group’s operation.

Audit Committee

The company has established an audit committee with written terms of
reference in compliance with Rules 5.28 to 5.33 and code provision D.3.3
and D.3.7 of the GEM Listing Rules. The audit committee comprises three
independent non-executive directors, Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony (being
the chairman of the audit committee), Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew and
Mr. Wai Hing Cheung.

The primary duties of the audit committee are to review the company’s
annual report and accounts, half-yearly report and quarterly reports
and to provide advice and comments thereon to the board. The audit
committee meets at least four times a year with management to review
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the group and to
discuss the effectiveness of the company’s financial reporting matters,
internal control and also risk management systems. The principal terms of
reference include, inter alia, its relationship with the company’s external
auditor, review of the company’s financial information and oversight
of the financial reporting system and internal control procedures of the

company.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, four audit committee meetings
were held. The group’s financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2022 have been reviewed by the audit committee, who is of the opinion
that such statements comply with the applicable accounting standards, the
GEM Listing Rules and legal requirements, and that adequate disclosures
had been made.
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Remuneration Committee

The company established a remuneration committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with Code. The roles and functions of the
remuneration committee include making recommendations to the board
on the specific remuneration packages of individual executive directors
and senior management of the company, including benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments, such as any compensation
payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment, and making
recommendations to the board of the remuneration of non-executive
directors, as well as determining the policy for the remuneration of
executive directors, assessing performance of executive directors, and
approving the terms of executive directors’ service contracts. Members
of the remuneration committee include Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony,
Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew, Mr. Wai Hing Cheung and Mr. Lau Hon
Kwong, Vincent, with Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew as chairman. A
majority of the votes in the remuneration committee are exercisable by
independent non-executive directors. No director will be involved in any

discussion in connection with his own remuneration.

The remuneration committee schedules to meet at least once a year.
During the year, one remuneration committee meeting was held to review
the remuneration packages of executive directors and the directors’ fees
of the independent non-executive directors.

Nomination Committee

The company established a nomination committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with the Code. Members of the nomination
committee include Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony, Mr. Wong Wang Fat,
Andrew, Mr. Wai Hing Cheung and Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent, with
Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew as chairman.

The nomination committee shall meet before the annual general meeting
of the company, or at other times as required by the chairman of the
nomination committee.

The roles and functions of the nomination committee include the
appointment and removal of directors, reviews of the background,
experience, qualification, general market conditions and the company’s
articles of association in selecting and recommending candidates for

directorship.
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During the year, one nomination committee meeting was held. Issues
concerning the structure, size and composition of the board were
discussed. During the meeting, members considered and resolved that
all the existing directors shall be recommended to be retained by the
company. Further, Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew and Mr. Kam Hau Choi,
Anthony will retire from the board in accordance with Articles 108 and
112 of the company’s articles of association at the forthcoming annual
general meeting, and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.

Directors’ and Auditors’ Responsibilities for the
Financial Statements

The directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparation of the
financial statements of the group and ensure that the financial statements
are in accordance with statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards. The directors also ensure the timely publication of the financial
statements of the group.

The statements of the external auditor of the company, Baker Tilly Hong
Kong Limited, about their reporting responsibilities on the financial
statements of the group is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on
pages 63 to 69 of this annual report.

Dividend Policy

The company has adopted a dividend policy, pursuant to which the
company gives priority to distributing dividend in cash and shares its
profits with its shareholders. The dividend payout ratio shall be determined
or recommended, as appropriate, by the board at its absolute discretion
after taking into account the company’s financial results, future prospects
and other factors, and subject to:

the articles of association of the company;

- the applicable restrictions and requirements under the laws of the
Cayman Islands;

- any banking or other funding covenants by which the company is
bound from time to time;

- the investment and operating requirements of the company; and

- any other factors that have material impacts on the company.

TERERME

FA-REZEGERIT-REE UInERESFEH
B ABREK  -E8RL BEFSZRULZREBAR
ARARBEAEETES - REAQRFABEEAAF 108K
21 ERBEXRERBEFEERNERERFBFAS £
WMESR  ERBEERET -

EERZEONYBREREM

EEMERRSEEEREUAEENTBERER - URELF
MBHRERTVEREEERRERAEERREE - EFIT
FER 7S 5 [ O B 705 SR R 2B T3 o

ARBSNERBENRBEE S AN EBAERARARE S
AEBPBREBETORAHN A FREIEECIAE
STZEEERE ]

BB BR

RRARFANBREBE - DARBBEEEAREITAD
RS - BER D ZRFA - REKNHLEERREESE

BARBNPIEESE RS REBEARREERBE
EERE (RFEAME) - ARANFHERS]

- ARRFABEZAA
- FESREAE NAEMRF RER
s AR RN RELHROERRITREMEE R

— AATMREREBER R

- EREME AR RBREAZENREE -

ITE (Holdings) Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22 3§ »‘



Corporate Governance Report
TERERWS

Internal Control and Risk Management

The board is responsible for the establishment, maintenance and review
of the group’s risk management and internal control system on an
ongoing basis. To facilitate the effectiveness and efficiency of operations
and to ensure compliance with relevant laws and regulations, the group
emphasizes the importance of a sound internal control system which is
also indispensable for mitigating the group’s risk exposures. A sound
and effective internal control system is designed for (i) safeguarding the
interests of shareholders; (i) safeguarding assets of the group against
misappropriation; (iii) ensuring proper maintenance of accounting records
for the provision of reliable financial information; and (iv) ensuring
compliance with the relevant laws, regulations, and internal policies. Such
system of internal control is designed to provide reasonable, but not
absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss and to manage
and eliminate risks of failure in operational systems and fulfilment of the

business objectives.

The internal control policies and procedures mainly cover areas of finance,
operations and compliance. The company shall conduct an annual review
of the effectiveness of its risk management and the internal control
systems under code provision D.2.1, report to shareholders that it has
done so in the Corporate Governance Report, and make recommendations
to the board if any significant areas of concern are identified. The review
should cover all material controls, including financial, operational and

compliance controls.

The board reviews the following annually: (a) the changes, since the last
annual review, in the nature and extent of significant risks (including ESG
risks), and the company’s ability to respond to changes in its business
and the external environment; (b) the scope and quality of management’s
ongoing monitoring of risks (including ESG risks) and of the internal
control systems; (c) the extent and frequency of communication of
monitoring results to the board (or board committee(s)) which enables it
to assess control of the group and the effectiveness of risk management;
(d) significant control failings or weaknesses that have been identified
during the period. Also, the extent to which they have resulted in
unforeseen outcomes or contingencies that have had, could have had,
or may in the future have, a material impact on the company’s financial
performance or condition; and (e) the effectiveness of the company’s
processes for financial reporting and GEM Listing Rules compliance.
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During the year, the board, through the audit committee, has assessed
the effectiveness of the internal control system of the group including
financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management
functions and has considered the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes, and budget of the
group’s accounting and financial reporting function, as well as those
relating to the group’s ESG performance and reporting. The board is
satisfied that the present system of internal control is effective. The group
does not have an internal audit function and does not see the need to
have one. The group will review the need for an internal audit function on
an annual basis.

The group’s risk management and internal control systems are designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss. The board has the overall
responsibility to maintain the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experience training programmes and budget of accounting and
financial reporting function and the board concluded that the group'’s risk
management and internal control systems were in place and effective.

With respect to the monitoring and disclosure of inside information, the
group has adopted a policy on disclosure of inside information with the
aim to ensure the insiders are abiding by the confidentiality requirement
and are fulfilling the disclosure obligation of the inside information.

The group has established a whistleblowing policy and system for
employees and those who deal with the group, including customers
and suppliers, to raise concerns, in confidence and anonymity, with the
audit committee about possible improprieties in any matter related to the
group. The group has also established a policy that promotes and supports
anti-corruption laws and regulations.

Business Ethics and Professional Code of
Conducts

The group puts high standards on business ethics and professional
conducts expected of all employees. Employees are briefed regularly on
the code of ethics and on the conduct of keeping confidentiality of the
information of business partners and the group. Briefings on the code of
ethics and on the conducts are held for new employees during orientation
sessions.

The group also adopts goods employment standards of non-discrimination
policy and fair compensation scheme.
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Company Secretary

The company secretary supports the board and board committees
by ensuring good information flow within the board and that board
policy and procedures are followed. The company secretary is a full
time employee of the company and has day-to-day knowledge of the
company's affairs. The selection, appointment or dismissal of the company
secretary should be approved by the board. The company secretary reports
to the chairman and directors of the company. The company secretary
also plays an essential role in the relationship between the company and
its shareholders, and assists the board in discharging its obligations to
shareholders pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules.

According to Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules, the company secretary
has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training to update
her skills and knowledge during the year.

External Auditors

The audit committee is responsible for considering the appointment of
the external auditors and reviewing any non-audit functions performed by
the external auditors of the group. In particular, the audit committee will
consider, in advance of them being contracted for such service, whether
such non-audit services could lead to any potential material conflict of
interest. Nothing has come to its attention to cause the audit committee
to believe that the non-audit services provided by the external auditors
affect their independence, objectivity and effectiveness in the audit

process in accordance with applicable standards.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the fee payable to the auditors in
respect of audit services amounted to HK$420,000 while the fee payable
to the auditors in respect of non-audit services relating to the taxation
amounted to HK$31,200.
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Shareholders’ Rights

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an Extraordinary
General Meeting and to Put Forward Proposal

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to propose new resolutions
at the general meetings under the Cayman Islands Companies Law (2012
Revision). However, shareholders are requested to follow article 64 of the
articles of association of the company, general meetings shall be convened
on the written requisition of any one or more members holding at the
date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up
capital of the company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of
the company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the
board or the secretary of the company, to require an extraordinary general
meeting to be called by the board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two
(2) months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one (21)
days of such deposit the board fails to proceed to convene such meeting
the requisition(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of
the failure of the board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the

company.

Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person for
Election as a Director

The provisions for a shareholder to propose a person for election as a
director of the company are laid down in article 113 of the company’s
articles of association. No person other than a director retiring at the
meeting shall, unless recommended by the board for election, be eligible
for election to the office of director at any general meeting unless a
notice in writing of the intention to propose such person for election as a
director, signed by a shareholder (other than the person to be proposed
for election as a director) duly qualified to attend and vote at the meeting
for which such notice is given, and a notice in writing signed by such
person of his willingness to be elected shall have been lodged at the head
office or at the Registration Office. The minimum length of the period
during which such notices are given shall be at least seven (7) days and
the period for lodgement of such notices shall commence no earlier than
the day after the dispatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed
for such election and end no later than seven (7) days prior to the date of
such general meeting.
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Procedures for Sending Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the board, shareholders may send
written enquiries to the company. Shareholders may send their enquiries
or requests in respect of their rights to the company’s principal place of
business in Hong Kong.

Communication with Shareholders

The board is committed to maintaining an ongoing and transparent
communication with all shareholders. The chairman of the board attends
the annual general meeting. The directors host the annual general meeting
each year to meet the shareholders and answer their enquiries. The
external auditors attend the annual general meeting to answer questions
about the conduct of the audit, the preparation and content of the
auditors’ report, the accounting policies and auditor independence. The
chairman of the meeting shall ensure that an explanation is provided of the
detailed procedures for conducting a poll and answer any questions from
shareholders on voting by poll. The company uses various communication
channels, such as publication of annual and quarterly reports, press
announcements and circulars, to update the shareholders on the group’s
business developments and financial performance. Such information is also
available on the company’s website: http:/Avww.hkite.com.

Constitutional Documents

During the year, there was no significant change in the company’s
constitutional documents.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Management Approach and Governance
Structure

The environmental, social and governance (“ESG"”) report is prepared
by the group with reference to the ESG Reporting Guide as set out in
Appendix 20 Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide to
the GEM Listing Rules of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“the
Guide"). It discloses major policies and management measures for the
environmental, social and governance matters relating to the provision of
innovation technology products, solutions and professional services of the

group during the year ended 31 March 2022.

In order to define what are relevant and material to our business in
relation to sustainability, the key is to understand what issues our
stakeholders are most concerned with. We define our stakeholders as
people who affect our business or who are affected by our business. Our
stakeholders include the shareholders, employees, suppliers, customers
and communities. In our daily business, we actively exchange information
with our stakeholders through our open and transparent platform while
we are devoted to continuous improvement of our communication and
engagement channels. We are committed to maintaining a long-term
partnership with our stakeholders and are actively engaged in addressing
their concerns with follow-up actions.

Having faith in sustainable business development, the board together
with management of the group evaluate and identify ESG-related risks,
formulate overall ESG and sustainability strategies, set ESG-related goals
and targets for the group, and integrate the strategic planning into
daily business operations. The board regularly reviews the progress and
enhances the ESG and sustainability strategies.
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Reporting Principles

In the preparation of this ESG report, we follow the Reporting Principles,
namely materiality, quantitative and consistency as set forth in the Guide.

Materiality

We recognise that the success of our environmental policies and
performance hinges on the support from our stakeholders. Therefore,
we always value our stakeholders’ insights into the group’s ESG and
sustainability strategies, as well as their opinions and feedback on
our existing ESG operating practices. Through continuous industry
benchmarking, communications with our stakeholders and internal

discussions, we identify material ESG factors.

We have established the following communication channels to facilitate
stakeholder engagement. Through stakeholder engagement, we manage
to evaluate and identify ESG-related risks effectively and make continuous
improvements to our ESG and sustainability strategies.
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Stakeholders Engagement Channels Expected Results BihE SHEHRE HMERR
Shareholders - Annual general meetings and - Comply with relevant laws ARER - KRERAFRKgKHE - EFHEBEEIR
other shareholder meetings and regulations AR &% R
- Annual reports, interim —  Strengthen governance - FIR - PEHBRER - mEEs
reports and quarterly reports —  Identify risk factors ZEWmE - #HrRBEZE
- Announcements and - Make necessary information - DRI - {EHMENESE
dirculars disclosure and maintain BR@ERERE
—  Website transparency - WE
Employees - Regular operational - Identify risk factors E& - BHEERER - #IRBREZX
and management — Maintain a safe and iR - KBRTERERNT
communications healthy workplace TERIR
— Training and briefing —  Promote career - EIIRERE - BENEEE
sessions development
— Circulars and emails — Inherit and pass on our - BHKREL - AERLEBER
core values and spirit A5 1
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Stakeholders  Engagement Channels Expected Results BHE SHRRE SRR
Customers  — Business meetings and  —  Effective delivery =E - BgRkfEE BRIRERRARA TR
seminars of solutions and ME R
- Letters, facsimiles, emails professional services - EE -BE B
and phone conversations — Maintain information B - B EBE HIEEABAE
—  Website transparency - #E
—  Customer service hotline — Respect and protect - HFPREELE BEEMNRERFH
customers’ rights and -
interests
—  Build mutual trust and BYEERRAH
establish a long-term HRAR
professional relationship
Suppliers — Business meetings and - Identify risk factors #En - AngRkE HhlE R E =
seminars - Maintain information HIEABERAE
- Tendering and requests transparency - HBERREERE
for quotation —  Build mutual trust and BYERERRHE
- Letters, facsimiles, emails establish a long-term - EF BE B FRAR
and phone conversations professional relationship T - FBEEBAA
Communities — Website —  Fulfil corporate social Fal ) - #E BIThEdgRE
-~ Community activities responsibility - tEEE
- Talks and seminars - Promote environmental - BERWEE HEIRIFIRE

protection
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Quantitative

Information about material ESG factors and key performance indicators
(“KPI"”) are made available in quantitative form in this report, whenever
feasible, pursuant to the Guide.

In the presentation of the types of emissions and respective emissions
data, we have been following the vehicle emission model, EMFAC-HK,
developed by the Environmental Protection Department (“EPD”). The
modelling methodology follows that of the California Air Resources
Board's EMFAC2002 model but with modifications to cater for local
factors.

The greenhouse gas (“GHG") emissions due to electricity consumption
were calculated based on CLP Power Hong Kong Limited’'s GHG intensity
of the electricity and HK Electric Investments and HK Electric Investments
Limited's carbon intensity.

Consistency

Consistent methodologies are adopted to allow meaningful comparisons
of ESG data over time.

We have been calculating air pollutant emissions from vehicles based on
the EPD'’s vehicle emission model, EMFAC-HK. During the year, EMFAC-HK
was updated and we adopted the latest version of EMFAC-HK in this
report.

The GHG intensity of the electricity sold by CLP Power Hong Kong Limited
in Hong Kong was 0.39kgCO,e/kWh in 2021, compared to 0.37kgCO,e/
kWh in 2020; the carbon intensity of HK Electric Investments and HK
Electric Investments Limited's power supply was 0.71 kg of CO,e per
kwWh in 2021,
greenhouse gas emissions due to electricity consumption based on
0.39kgCO,e/kWh and 0.71kgCO,e/kWh (2020: 0.37kgCO,e/kWh and
0.71kgCO,e/kWh).

the same as that in 2020. In this report, we calculated
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Reporting Boundary

We extended the scope of environmental and social performance in this
ESG report in accordance with the latest version of the Guide. This report
further describes and explains the application of the Reporting Principles
and reports on more provisions of the Guide.

A ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND RESOURCES
MANAGEMENT MEASURES

Corporate Environmental Policy

In accordance with our environmental vision, we are committed
to upholding high environmental protection standards to fulfil
relevant requirements under applicable laws or ordinances during
the operation of the business. Being a provider of innovation
technology products, solutions and professional services, we bear
low impact on carbon emission and the environment. Nevertheless,
the group continues to actively manage our environmental
footprint via implementing environmental protection measures in

the office and workplace.

We were one of the first 64 listed companies signing the Carbon
Footprint Repository for Listed Companies in Hong Kong in 2014.
These listed companies came from different sectors, including
property and construction, consumer services, financial, consumer
goods, industrial, utilities, information technology, materials and
telecommunication sectors. We are ready to disclose the carbon
footprint information and share the successful experiences in
carbon management and practices through various means. We
have been pioneering the initiative and playing an important role
in transforming Hong Kong into a green and low-carbon economy
since 2014.
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Aspect A1: Emissions

The impacts of climate change touch on every part of our lives and
our business. We and our stakeholders recognise the need to step
up our environmental protection actions and draw up relevant
policies to reduce the emissions and discharges of air pollutants,
greenhouse gases and wastes. We have established various policies
to closely monitor, regularly review and implement measures to
reduce the air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into
water and land, and hazardous and non-hazardous waste arising
from our daily business operations.

We have been complying with all relevant laws and regulations
that have significant impacts on us relating to emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous and

non-hazardous wastes.

The group’s major sources of air pollutants, greenhouse gases
and wastes include fuel and electricity consumption of our vehicle
fleet, office and staff. Emissions disclosed as KPIs are calculated
based on the consumption data collected and applicable emission
factors.

Air pollutants include NOx, SOx, particulate matter and other
pollutants regulated under laws and regulations of HKSAR.
Greenhouse gases include carbon dioxide, methane, nitrous oxide,
ozone, hydrofluorocarbons, chlorofluorocarbons etc.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, there was no confirmed non-
compliance in relation to air pollutants and greenhouse gases,
discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous and

non-hazardous wastes.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIR - g NERWE

KPI A1.1 Emissions from vehicles BREBUEIZAL I RE Y
We were awarded the Contract for Management, Operation and APV R A R Il 1T B U 3R R VR B BRER R A
Maintenance of the existing Parking Meter System (“CMOM") by Bl HERBEESLD ZAHNNZE—NF—H
the Government of the HKSAR. The CMOM started on 20 January “tHRFARER YR —_F—A+NA%
2019 and ended on 19 January 2022. A vehicle fleet consisting of ReLEEHFHR=ZAEHEE MaRhEESE -
three diesel trucks, two diesel vans, four electric vans, one electric MeaEFHEEE  —AEPLRE - —AEFHER
car, one electric motorcycle and four gasoline motorcycles were BRI & DB EFEEAR - LAUmEZEERE RS
established to fulfil the requirements and needs under the CMOM. HER  HERBESHHNERNEE -
As at 31 March 2022, the accumulated service mileage of our HE-_T-_—"F=A=+—H ZHMEBHEK ' &
electric vehicle fleet which consisted of four Nissan eNV200 electric EMNE HEeNV200EFHEEH - —& F/ASmart
vans, one Mercedes-Benz Smart forfour Electric Drive and one forfour EE)FLZK B fl— & Ugbest Express 2019 & &)
Ugbest Express 2019 electric motorcycle exceeded 460,000km. PEFEE - RFERB EHE#Bi1B460,0008E -
Types of emissions 2022 2021 235 Yk <Vl =B ZB--F
Kg Kg Fx =
NOX 105.45 310.92 AEULY 105.45 310.92
SOx 0.091 0.223 ety 0.091 0.223
Particulate Matter (“PM") 10.17 29.83 R 10.17 29.83
Hydrocarbons (“HC") 3.44 7.48 xElEy 3.44 7.48
Carbon Monoxide (“CQO") 471.39 1,253.49 —&UkiR 471.39 1,253.49
KPI A1.2 Greenhouse gas (“GHG") emissions BRESUEEM2VEERE(DEAERE ) BERE
2022 2021 —EB-CF —BE--F
Tonnes of CO,e  Tonnes of CO,e “EEEE —SitREE
Direct GHG emissions BERREREHMN
Vehicle fleet - gasoline, diesel 32.75 91.63 HIEBEH — UH - S 32.75 91.63
Aviation travel — aviation fuel 0 0 fzE i — M ZEh e 0 0
Indirect GHG emissions FEEREREBHNR
Electric vehicles - electricity 8.52 14.38 EPE-F)) 8.52 1438
Office - electricity 39.85 56.32 WAE-F N 39.85 56.32
Total GHG emissions 81.12 162.33 BREREHN 81.12 16233
GHG emission intensity REREHNAE
(per employee) 1.33 1.67 (5E8) 1.33 167
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KPI A1.3 Hazardous wastes

Hazardous wastes are those defined by regulations of HKSAR.
Hazardous wastes are required to be separated and recorded
for collection. During the year, the group did not produce any
hazardous wastes in the course of business.

KPI A1.4 Non-hazardous wastes

During the year, the group produced and disposed under the
CMOM approximately 8.3 tonnes (2021: 21.26 tonnes, 2020:
37.63 tonnes) of alkaline battery chemical wastes and the wastes
were landfill disposed through a waste collector approved by the
Environmental Protection Department.

KPI A1.5 Measures to mitigate emissions

In accordance with policies stated above for the reduction of air
pollutants and GHG emissions from vehicles, the group adopts the
following measures: control the numbers of vehicles owned by the
group; control the frequency of employees to take transportation
for local business commuting; and control the volume of business
travel by employees. We consider that such measures had been
achieved during the year.

KPI A1.6 How hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled,

reduction initiatives and results achieved

The group is committed as ever to conserving precious resources
by taking eco-friendly measures to reduce disposal of hazardous
and non-hazardous wastes throughout our operation.

We acknowledge the fact that wasted electrical and electronic
equipment are the fastest growing waste materials in the world.
To alleviate the problem, we aim to increase the lifespan of each
computer by upgrading the hardware or software. At the same
time, we promote the concept of replacing the particular depleted
computer components instead of the whole computer. Reducing
the replenishment rate of the computer components is not our
only objective, we also send all depleted computer components to
the licensed recycling collectors to lessen the environmental impact
associated with electronic manufacturing from raw materials, as
well as to reduce hazardous and toxic substances handled during
disposal.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Any hazardous wastes must be disposed through the approved
waste collectors. The non-hazardous wastes, such as packaging
material, are systematically collected and transported to designated
government-funded disposal facilities. For surplus resources, e.g.
end-of-life disposal products, we make every effort to ensure
responsible handling and disposal. Donation of surplus resources
to charitable organisations is supported. We routinely isolate
any recyclable components, e.g. paper, metal and electronic
components, prior to disposal. We consider that such measures
had been achieved during the year.

Other non-hazardous wastes produced by the group are mainly
generated from daily office operations, including daily paper
usage, office waste and food waste by employees. Those wastes
are collectively classified, collected and disposed by the property
management office of the building on a regular basis.

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

GHG emissions are mainly generated from combusting gasoline
and diesel by vehicles owned by the group. Motor vehicles and
motorcycles are subject to annual mandatory inspection. We
regularly inspect our vehicle fleet to ensure that any damaged
exhaust pipe is immediately repaired or replaced. Better fleet
utilization through vehicle-sharing is also strongly encouraged.

Electricity consumption is a contribution to our GHG emissions and
energy footprints. The group adopts a number of energy-saving
initiatives as well as efficiency practices and policies to enhance
the awareness for GHG emission reduction and energy saving,
including:

- installing LED lighting and air-conditioning system with
“Grade 1" energy label;

- encouraging employees to turn off the computers and
information communication technology (“ICT”) devices

when not in use;

- setting office machines such as copiers and display
monitors to turn-off mode automatically after office hour;

- maintaining indoor temperature at an optimal level for

comfort;
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

R - @ REAHRE

- putting up signage emphasizing the importance of energy
saving; and

- encouraging employees to make the best use of the ICT
facilities so as to avoid unnecessary travel arrangements.

The group continuously monitors and reviews the performance
and effectiveness of our appliances, replacing any out-date or
inefficient systems with up-to-date energy saving technology.
We have encouraged paperless workflow such as electronic
document storage, material sharing and reduced administrative
documentation. When using paper, employees are encouraged to
use double-sided paper, black and white or recycled papers when
printing or photocopying documents. It considerably improves
operational efficiency while creating a paperless operation system.

KPI ' A2.1 Energy consumption

Energy Usage and

Emissions Unit 2022 2021

Electricity consumption in kWh 21,838 38,861
electric vehicles

Electricity consumption in kWh 102,182 139,277
office

Electricity consumption in kWh 124,020 178,138
total

Energy consumption intensity kWh per 2,030.3 1,836.5
(pro rata) employee

Gasoline and diesel Liter 5,845.04  14,218.62
consumption of vehicle
fleet

Aviation travel Kilometer 0 0

Paper used Ream 172 257

Paper used intensity Ream per 2.82 2.65
(pro rata) employee
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

KPI A2.2 Water consumption

We are committed to using all kinds of resources including water
efficiently and conservatively. Our group’s water consumption
mainly stems from daily office activities. Since our office uses
public tap water shared by the building and the water supply is
under the management of the building’s management office,
information of water consumption of individual units of the
building is not available. Notwithstanding the situation, we always
promote water conservation and water efficiency in the workplace.

KPI A2.3 Energy use efficiency targets

The group has adopted the foregoing measures to enhance energy
use efficiency. We consider that such measures had been achieved
during the year.

KPI' A2.4 Issues in sourcing water and water efficiency targets

During the year, there was no issue in sourcing water that is fit for
purpose. The group has adopted the foregoing measures to water
efficiency. We consider that such measures had been achieved
during the year.

KPI A2.5 Packaging material used for finished products

Given the nature of the group’s business, we do not have physical
products for sale and do not consume packaging materials during
our operations. The total packaging material used for finished
products is not applicable.
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Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
In order to minimise impacts on the environment and natural
resources, we are committed to applying and integrating green

energy into our solutions and professional services.

KPI A3.1 Minimising impacts on the environment and natural

resources

We continue to develop and deploy sustainable energy solutions
and services for our customers, rechargeable energy products and
systems had been launched and deployed for CMOM to reduce
the amount of alkaline battery chemical wastes produced. We
have been replacing alkaline battery cells by rechargeable lithium
battery packs. As at 31 March 2022, the accumulated recharging
times of the lithium battery packs almost reached 100,000 times.

During the year, we continued to apply and integrate green
energy into the Contract for Provision of People Counter System
and Related Services at Public Toilets, Aqua Privies and Bathhouses
in the Territory and our technological product solution “An
Integrated Solution for the Detection/Diagnosis/Surveillance of
Hygiene Conditions and Deep Cleansing of Public Toilets and
Facilities”.

Regarding the operation of the office premises, we are not
aware of any significant impacts of activities on the environment
and natural resources. With the implementation of green office
measures, we strive to minimise impacts on the environment
and natural resources. The group will continue to implement
environment-friendly practices within the operation in order to
enhance sustainability.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Aspect A4: Climate Change
We continue to review and enhance policies on identification
and mitigation of significant climate-related issues which have

impacted, and those which may impact, the group.

KPI A4.1 Significant climate-related issues

The increasingly extreme weather and environmental conditions
have been creating a challenging environment for our employees
who work outdoors. As a responsible and caring employer, we
always put the health and safety of our employees as our top
priority. We observe and respond to the appeal by the Labour
Department, the Environmental Protection Department, and the
Centre for Health Protection that we take appropriate precautions
to the health and safety of our staff. Precautions and measures
taken include but not limited to:

- Taking heed of the weather report and adopt shift work
arrangements for employees to reduce their exposure to
the air pollutants, hot environment and other adverse
weather;

- Arrange appropriate rest breaks for employees during very
hot periods;

- Reducing outdoor physical exertion and the time of the
employees’ stay outdoors when the AQHI is at the “Very
High” or “Serious” level.
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SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

Aspect B1: Employment

In relation to human resources, we are committed to complying
with ordinances relating to disability, sex, family status and
race discrimination, as well as the Employment Ordinance,
the Minimum Wage Ordinance and ordinances relating to
occupational safety of our employees, so as to safeguard their
interests and well-being. We are very proud to receive the “Partner
Employer Award 5 years” by The Hong Kong General Chamber
of Small and Medium Business. The “Partner Employer Award”
Recognition Scheme was launched in 2010 to encourage local
enterprises to hire and provide internships to local students and
graduates so that they can accumulate work experience and
develop a positive attitude to enhance their competitiveness in the

market.

We are committed to safeguarding the security and privacy of
personal data. When collecting and processing such data, we
comply with the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance and Guidelines
issued by the Office of the Privacy Commissioner for Personal
Data, with a view to protecting the privacy of our employees,
partners, customers and community.

We comply with various anti-discrimination ordinances in Hong
Kong. We are committed to promoting diversity and equality, all
staff are treated with respect and dignity. At present, the anti-

discrimination ordinances in Hong Kong are:

o the Disability Discrimination Ordinance

o the Sex Discrimination Ordinance

o the Family Status Discrimination Ordinance
o the Race Discrimination Ordinance
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

We supported by participating in the Selective Placement Division
of the Labour Department. The objective of the scheme is to assist
people with disabilities in securing jobs in open employment that
best suit their abilities, skills, qualifications and experience, with
the ultimate aim of integrating them into the community and
helping them to be financially independent.

We review the corporate policy of employment and labour
regularly to ensure that we comply with the local labour
legislations and regulations. During the year, we did not come
to any material non-compliance case that constituted violation of
employment’ related laws and regulations.

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group

and geographical region

2022 2021
Number of employees
Permanent 24 84
Part-time 6 3
Intern 5 10
Workforce by gender
Female 8 11
Male 27 86
Workforce by age
20-29 15 31
30-39 6 10
40-49 5 14
50-59 7 29
60-69 2 12
70+ 0 1
By region
Hong Kong 35 97
Macao 0 0
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KPl B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and AR B BUEIZEBR .21 MR~ FHEc AR Bl R [E B 5 HY
geographical region EERKLLE

2022 2021 —E-CF —E--F
Workforce by gender RUERIEI DB D
Female 27.3% 0.0% gegid 27.3% 0.0%
Male 68.6% 13.1% St 68.6% 13.1%
Workforce by age RERESNEE N
20-29 51.6% 0.0% 20-29 51.6% 0.0%
30-39 40.0% 33.3% 30-39 40.0% 33.3%
40-49 64.3% 6.7% 40-49 64.3% 6.7%
50-59 75.9% 3.3% 50-59 75.9% 3.3%
60-69 83.3% 36.8% 60-69 83.3% 36.8%
70+ 100.0% 0.0% 70+ 100.0% 0.0%
By region R EED
Hong Kong 63.9% 2.0% B 63.9% 2.0%
Macao 0.0% 100.0% JBFT 0.0% 100.0%
Aspect B2: Health and Safety [EEB2 : BFHZE
We comply with relevant laws and regulations that have significant BMETHAEREEAXENEARBEEETHF
impacts on us relating to providing a safe working environment RERREEEHCBENFSENEBEEZ LA
and protecting employees from occupational hazards, including Bl - BIECIBER 2 REERIED) -

the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance.

KPI B2.1 Work-related fatalities FRENIEEB2 1 BFERAITEW

2022 2021 S =—ZEBE-—H
Number of work-related fatalities 0 0 BFERT HHMAZ 0
Rate of work-related fatalities (%) 0 0 BFERETF LR (%) 0
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury

2022 2021

Lost days due to work injury 366 300

KPI B2.3 Occupational health and safety measures

We develop and adopt health and safety policies, including
prohibition of smoking in the workplace, abuse of alcohol and
drugs, identification and prevention of risks and hazards in the
working area, and follow-up actions for accidents or personal
injuries. Such policies are set out in our Employee Handbook for
our employees to comply with. We also update the health and
safety policies from time to time to ensure that the policies are
best fit to our business.

First-aid kits and fire-fighting devices and equipment are provided
and easily identified in the premises in case of injuries and

emergencies.

Fire protection system that best fits our needs for simplicity,
reliability and ease of maintenance is established. We appoint a
registered fire service contractor to carry out the annual works or
the provision of or improvement on fire service installations and
equipment. Numbers of fire extinguishers for water and carbon
dioxide, fire extinguishing devices, fire sand and fire blanket,
emergency lighting and exit sign have been installed and tested by
the fire service contractor annually. We conduct fire drills and use
of equipment every year.
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Amidst the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, we stay committed to
our work. To enhance the safety of our staff, we take various
measures to minimise the risks of spreading COVID-19 in the
workplace as advised by the Centre for Health Protection of the
Government, including:

- All employees are required to wear masks at all times.

- All employees should keep appropriate social distance with
others.

- Staff are advised to stagger their meal time, avoid sitting
directly face-to-face with others when having meals and to
have meals at designated areas with effective partitions.

- We regularly clean and disinfect frequently touched
surfaces such as furniture and door handles.

- We regularly use our proprietary Internet-of-Things (“loT")-
enabled smart ultraviolet-C (“UVC") disinfection devices to
disinfect the office.

Aspect B3: Development and Training

As the demand for skills and talent specific to our businesses
continues to increase, competition poses the risk of employee
turnover. We address this risk by providing our employees with
training opportunities and competitive benefits, creating loyalty
while cultivating their professional development.

Every new joiner will be provided with proper orientation training
and mentoring in order to help them adapt to the new working
environment affirmatively and quickly. Continuous training is
also committed by us in different ways including on-the-job
training, comprehensive training for specific skill development and
professional training for relevant employees. Each department
is also responsible for setting and developing their own training
programmes not only to meet the specific business requirements,
but also to build up the on-going skills and career development
of our staff. Job rotation opportunities are given to help advance
personal development and facilitate employee substitutions. Both
the management and employee work together to identify the
department and position suitable for a job rotation.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and
employee category

2022
By gender
Female 37.5%
Male 59.3%
By employee category
Management 66.7%
General 50.0%

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by

gender and employee category

2022
No. of hours

By gender

Female 3.9
Male 9.5
By employee category

Management 10.7
General 7.4

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

We comply with all relevant laws and regulations that have
significant impacts on us relating to the prevention of use of child
and forced labour. We do not accept any forms of forced labour
service. We also prohibit employing child labour at any working
place under any circumstances. We inspect applicant’s documents
and qualifications strictly during the recruitment process to ensure
that all relevant laws in respect thereof are complied with.
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KPI B4.1 Employment practices to avoid child and forced labour

We inspect applicant’s documents and qualifications strictly during
the recruitment process to ensure that all relevant laws in respect
thereof are complied with.

We review the corporate policies relating to the prevention of use
of child and forced labour regularly to ensure that we comply with

the local labour legislations and regulations.

KPI B4.2 Steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered

We strictly comply with all relevant laws and regulations. If any
child or forced labour is discovered, such employment will be
terminated immediately. During the year, we did not come to any
material non-compliance case that constituted violation of relevant

laws and regulations.

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

Paying attention to the environmental and social risks of the
supply chain, we constantly monitor and review our procurement
and outsourcing policies and practices and remain cautious in
our selection of suppliers. We expect that our suppliers remain
consistent with high standards of business ethics and the laws. We
have no tolerance towards any violation of business ethics and the

laws.

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region

2022 2021
Hong Kong 149 151
China 24 25
Taiwan 2
The United Kingdom 1
Other countries 3
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

KPI B5.2 Practices relating to engaging suppliers

We engage suppliers through standard evaluations, based on
multiple factors, including commercial ethics, availability, quality
of materials, experience, track record, price competitiveness,
environmental policies and practices, and the like. During the year,
all suppliers went through the standard evaluations. We conduct
supplier evaluations on a regular basis and review the practices
when necessary.

KPI B5.3 Practices used to identify environmental and social risks

along the supply chain

Environmental and social risks along the supplier chain are
incorporated into our risk management framework. We constantly
monitor and review both environmental and social risks along the

supply chain.

KPI B5.4 Practices used to promote environmentally preferable

products and services

As a solution and professional service provider, we are committed
to applying and integrating environmentally preferable products
and services into our solutions and professional services. When
we select suppliers, we take into account their environmental
policies and practices so as to promote environmentally preferable
products and services. We review the standard supplier evaluations

when necessary.

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

We implement and maintain a quality management system of
high standards. It is our core value that we never compromise on
safety or quality and dedicate ourselves to a zero harm-and-fault
mindset.

We comply with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on us relating to health and safety, advertising,
labelling and privacy matters relating to products and services
provided and methods of redress.
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KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to

recalls for safety and health reasons

Given the nature of the group’s business, we do not have physical
products for sale. The percentage of total products sold or shipped
subject to recalls for safety and health reasons is not applicable.

KPI B6.2 Products and service related complaints

During the year, we did not receive any products and service
related complaints relating to health and safety, advertising,
labelling and privacy matters. When we receive a complaint, we
record details of the complaint, conduct an internal investigation
into the matter, discuss options for fixing the problem, and
follow up to avoid the problem in the future. We encourage our
customers to provide feedback and complaints through established

communication channels.

KPI B6.3 Observing and protecting intellectual property rights

We acknowledge the importance of intellectual property rights
and protection, we set out our policies and principles towards the
creation, utilization and protection of software, patents, designs
and trademarks registration and the related renewals.

In order to safeguard our intellectual property rights, a document
or notification is provided to partners and vendors before business
engagement. Internally, we enter into employment contracts with
our employees which contain provisions on intellectual property
rights and confidentiality. Employees sign written confirmation
to (i) confirm that all intellectual property rights created or made
during their employment shall be vested in the group; and (ii)
agree not to use or disclose confidential information without

authorization or approval.

KPI B6.4 Quality assurance process and recall procedures

We adopted the practices of ISO 9001:2015 Quality Assurance
System which were first accredited in 2002. We maintain the
quality by complying with those standards and demonstrate that
we have the ability to consistently provide services that meet our
customers’ needs and fulfil applicable statutory and regulatory

requirements.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

KPI B6.5 Consumer data protection and privacy policies

We are committed to meeting internationally-recognised
standards of personal data privacy protection, in compliance
with the requirements of the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance.
All staff members are required to comply with all relevant laws
and regulations in the collection, use, disclosure and retention of
customers’ data.

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

We comply with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on us relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and
money laundering.

We establish a strong internal control to institute a vigorous
enforcement regime against corruption and fraud. Strong anti-
corruption and anti-fraud culture is a vital part of the overall
governance framework of the group. We are committed to
mobilising resources to safeguard the assets and ultimate interests
of our shareholders.

ESG risks within our supply chain are addressed through strict
procurement processes and contractual requirements. We maintain
a list of preferred suppliers so as to ensure reliable and effective
delivery of the products and services we require.

KPI B7.1 Legal cases regarding corrupt practices

2022 2021
Number of concluded legal 0 0
cases regarding corrupt
practices brought against
the group or its employees
Outcomes of the cases N/A N/A

KPI B7.2 Preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures

The group has an internal reporting mechanism for our personnel
to report possible breaches of integrity requirements. The group
handles these reports promptly and in strict confidence. The group
strictly forbids retaliation against any personnel who, in good
faith, reports possible breaches of integrity requirements or who
participates in the inquiry or investigation of the allegation. Such
policies are set out in our Employee Handbook for our employees
to comply with.
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KPI B7.3 Anti-corruption training

All new employees and directors are briefed on the group’s anti-
corruption policies and principles during introduction training.
We also provide training to existing employees and directors to
ensure that they are aware of and comply with relevant laws and
regulations.

Aspect B8: Community Investment

KPI B8.1 Health

We have been participating in the ORBIS Pin Campaign since 2006.
Our colleagues wore the Pins on 14 October 2021 to embrace
ORBIS’s mission in support of World Health Organization’s World
Sight Day. Established in 1982, ORBIS is working to eradicate
preventable blindness in impoverished nations worldwide. Long-
term eye care programs that increase local surgical skills, facilities
and eye health awareness have helped restore sight to over 6.8
million needlessly blind people to date.

KPI B8.2 Education

During the year, we welcomed more than twenty interns joining
the group. They came from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University,
The City University of Hong Kong, Royal Melbourne Institute
of Technology and Vocational Training Council with different
disciplines from computing, electronics, building services, electrical
and mechanical engineering. We have been supporting internship
programs for undergraduates from tertiary institutions since
2006 assisting more than 200 students to gain solid experience
and knowledge in their fields through taking actual work
responsibilities.

The management of the group continues to support the
Engineering Departments of The City University of Hong Kong and
The University of Hong Kong by serving as industrial advisors.

We have been collaborating with the key universities and institutes
in Hong Kong since our incorporation. Donations were also made
as encouragement to the universities in the pursuit of greater
excellence. We are honored to be the Principal Members of the
City University of Hong Kong Foundation.
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The directors submit herewith their annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2022.

Principal activities

The principal activity of ITE (Holdings) Limited (the “company”) is
investment holding. The principal activities and other particulars of the
principal subsidiaries are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Segment information

Details of the segment reporting in respect of the analysis of the principal
activities and geographical locations of the operations of the company and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “group”) during the financial
year are set out in note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.

Business review

Details of business review information are set out in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 6 to 12 of this annual
report.

Major customers and suppliers
The information in respect of the group’s revenue and purchases

attributable to the major customers and suppliers respectively during the
financial year is as follows:

Directors’ Report
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Revenue Purchases
= REE
The largest customer BAEP 43% -
Five largest customers in aggregate AR EE 81% -
The largest supplier BARER - 12%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate AR ER BT - 47%

At no time during the year have the directors, their associates or any
shareholder of the company (which to the knowledge of the directors
owns more than 5% of the company’s share capital) had any interest in
these major customers and suppliers.
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Directors’ Report

EETHRE
Dividend

On 17 June 2022, the Directors recommend the payment of a final
dividend of HK$0.6 cents (2021: HK$0.5 cents) per ordinary share
of the company in cash distributed from the share premium account
of the company for the year ended 31 March 2022 to shareholders
whose names appear on the register of members of the Company on 1
September 2022. As at 31 March 2022, the company’s share premium
account was approximately HK$15,612,000. Subsequent to the approval
of the company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting
and after the payment of the proposed final dividend, assuming there
are no other changes to the share premium account, the company’s
share premium account is expected to be reduced to approximately
HK$10,059,000. No interim dividend was declared and paid during the
year. The recommendation of final dividend has not been incorporated in
the financial statements for the year but will be recorded in the following

year.

Under the Companies Law (Revised) Chapter 22 of the Cayman Islands,
the share premium is available for paying distributions or dividends to
shareholders of the company subject to the provisions of its memorandum
and articles of association and provided that immediately following the
distribution of dividend, the company is able to pay its debts as they fall
due in the ordinary course of business. The articles of association provide
that an ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders of the company is
required for any distribution out of the share premium account.

Subject to approval by the shareholders at the forthcoming annual general
meeting on Monday, 8 August 2022 the final dividend will be paid on
Friday, 16 September 2022 to shareholders whose names appear on the
register of members of the company on Thursday, 1 September 2022.
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Closure of Register of Members

(i) Entitlement to Attend and Vote at the 2022 Annual
General Meeting

The register of members will be closed from Wednesday, 3 August
2022 to Monday, 8 August 2022, both days inclusive, during
which period no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to
qualify for attendance of annual general meeting, all completed
transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged with the company’s branch share registrar and transfer
office in Hong Kong, Hong Kong Registrars Limited, at Shops
1712-1716, 17/F., Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan
Chai, Hong Kong no later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 2 August
2022.

(ii)  Entitlement to the Proposed Final Dividend

The register of members will be closed from Tuesday, 30 August
2022 to Thursday, 1 September 2022, both days inclusive, during
which period no transfer of shares will be registered. In order
to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all completed transfer
forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged with the company’s branch share registrar and transfer
office in Hong Kong, Hong Kong Registrars Limited, at Shops
1712-1716, 17/F., Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan
Chai, Hong Kong no later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 29 August
2022.

Share capital

Details of the movements in the share capital of the company are set out
in note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

Pre-emptive rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the company’s
articles of association and there was no restriction against such rights
under the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the company to
offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

Directors’ Report

EREWE

gERERNBFERCFE

() HE-Z--FHNRRBEFREERE
ERENER

PN/ Tﬂﬁﬁfg::i)\ﬂjﬁ(iﬁﬂi)x_

ZENANB (E8—) (BEEEMX) BEIER
MERD - AETE ﬂﬁ%ﬂxhz&ﬁ%aaﬂﬁoﬁﬁA
EREERRBFEAE  FIEEZNOROBERE
ERAEREEN-_Z-_—E/\A-B(EH-)T
TR =+ D RIER AR RIER B KRN EE KRB
Prk BABFBFLERAA - it AEBEF
SERRBRI8IHAFH L7 1712-17165%4F °

(i) BREBRAHRENER

AARER T N\A=+H(EH=-)E=
T_FAA—RA(EHM) (BEERMX) BF
WEROER - HETSHERGCBEFELTE -
AEAEEREMEZEARARE - TEEZHRG B
FREEREEREAER-_Z_—_F/\A=-+A1H
(E%‘JT#E%*+QML§$’ﬂE§%%%
NELTRBEAR BEIHFERARAR - Hiik
REBETFERFNE imasﬁA%uqﬂ/mﬁ%wu-
17165% 48 °

EEIS

ARRBANBEFIBHNER A M IS RA M FE27

BrRBERE

AAFMESGERAN L EERNBEBERNRE LS
EXRRETEANELEEENRSY  BEARRFTRETE
£ - R BIRIR B BRI B AR o

ITE (Holdings) Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22 3§ 9‘



Directors’ Report
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Directors

The directors who held office during the financial year and up to the date

of this report were:

The company

Executive directors

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung

Mr. Liu Hoi Wah

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony

Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew

Mr. Wai Hing Cheung

In accordance with Articles 108 and 112 of the company’s articles of
association, Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew and Mr. Kam Hau Choi
Anthony will retire from the board by rotation at the forthcoming annual
general meeting and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.

The list of directors who have served on the board of directors in the
subsidiaries of the company during the financial year and up to date of

this report is as follows:

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung
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Directors’ service contracts

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent, Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung and Mr. Liu Hoi
Wah have entered into service contracts with the company on 3 March
2014 for an initial fixed term of one year commencing from 1 April 2014
which will continue thereafter until terminated by three months’ notice in
writing served by either party on the other.

Except for the above, none of the directors proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract which is
not determinable by the company, or any of its subsidiaries, within one
year without payment of compensation, other than normal statutory

obligations.

Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and
short positions in shares, underlying shares and
debentures

At 31 March 2022, the interests and short positions of each director
and chief executive of the company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFO")), which were notified to the company and The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO, including any interests and short positions which they
have taken or deemed to have taken under such provisions of the SFO, or
which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in
the register referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant to Rules
5.46 to 5.68 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of
the Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”), to be notified to the company

and the Exchange were as follows:

Directors’ Report
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Interests in issued shares of the company

RATH R =

Number of ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each

BIR0.01EBTEERKRE
Percentage
Personal Corporate of total
Name of director interests interests Total issued shares
HERIT
BEHE B R AR R a5t RHEEDHE
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent 7,108,000(L) 241,102,348(L) 248,210,348(L) 26.82%
ZIE N (Note 2) (PfE2)
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung 113,988,000(L) - 113,988,000(L) 12.32%
20 B 1 S A
Notes: MizE :
1. The letter “L” denotes a long position in the shares. 1. L ERRBMDBTE
2. These shares are beneficially owned by Rax-Comm (BVI) Limited (“Rax-Comm”), 2. HERMTE—FTRNEBRELZEBESK AT Rax-Comm

a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. Mr. Lau Hon Kwong,

Vincent held 76.39% of the entire issued share capital of Rax-Comm.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, none of the directors,
chief executive of the company or their associates had any interests in the
shares or debentures of, or short positions in the shares of, the company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which would have to be notified to the company and the Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, including interests
or short positions which they have taken or deemed to have taken under
such provisions of the SFO, or which were required, pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, or which
were required, pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.68 of the GEM Listing Rules,
were required to be notified to the company and the Exchange.
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Directors’ and chief executive’s rights to acquire
shares or debt securities

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Directors’ and chief
executive’s interests and short positions in shares, underlying shares and
debentures”, at no time during the year was the company, or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the directors and chief
executive of the company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debt securities, including debentures, of the company or
any other body corporate, and none of the directors and chief executive
of the company or their spouses or children under the age of 18, had any
right to subscribe for the securities of the company, or had exercised any

such rights.

Interests and short positions of shareholders in
the shares and underlying shares

At 31 March 2022, the following persons, other than a director or chief
executive of the company, had interests or short positions in the shares
and underlying shares of the company as recorded in the register required
to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO and so far as is known to any

director or chief executive of the company:

Name of shareholder

Directors’ Report
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MEIRR ) R R R SR

Number of Percentage of

ordinary shares held  total issued shares

FEFEBER HEBITRSE
REREA REE WEDL
Rax-Comm (Note) 241,102,348 26.05%
Rax-Comm (Fff#E)
Mr. George Roger Manho 48,142,254 5.20%

BRHERLE

Note:  These shares have been disclosed as the corporate interests of the relevant

directors in the section headed “Directors’ and chief executive's interests and
short positions in shares, underlying shares and debentures”.

Save as disclosed above, the company had not been notified of any other
person, other than directors or the chief executive of the company, who
had an interest or a short position in the shares and underlying shares
of the company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO and so far is known to any
director or chief executive of the company as at 31 March 2022.
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Share option scheme

Details of the company’s share option scheme are set out in note 26 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Purchase, sale and redemption of shares of the
company

During the year, the company repurchased nil shares (2021: nil shares) in
the share capital of the company on the Exchange pursuant to the general
mandates granted by the shareholders at the annual general meetings of
the company held on 6 August 2021.

Save as disclosed above, neither the company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the company’s shares during the
year.

Directors’ interest in transactions, arrangement
or contracts

Except for the transactions disclosed in note 30 to the financial statements,
no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance subsisted during
or at the end of the year in which the director or an entity connected with
the director is or was materially interested, either directly or indirectly.

Permitted indemnity provision

At no time during the year and up to date of this annual report, there
was or is, any permitted indemnity provision being in force for the benefit
of the directors (whether made by the company or otherwise) or of the
directors of the company's subsidiaries (if made by the company).

Management contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the company were
entered into or in existence during the year.

Connected transactions

There were no transactions which should be disclosed in the annual report
as connected transactions in accordance with the requirements of the
GEM Listing Rules.
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Five year summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 139 of this annual report.

Emolument policy

The emolument policy for the employees of the group is set up by the
remuneration committee on the basis of their merit, qualifications and

competence.

The emoluments of the directors of the company are decided by the
remuneration committee, having regard to the group’s operating results,

individual performance and comparable market statistics.

The company has adopted share option scheme as an incentive to
directors and eligible employees, details of the scheme are set out in note
26 to the consolidated financial statements.

Sufficiency of public float

Based on the information available to the company and within the
knowledge and belief of the directors of the company, the company has
maintained at least the prescribed amount of minimum public float during
the year and up to the date of this report as required under the GEM
Listing Rules.

Confirmation of independence

The company has received from each of the independent non-executive
directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule
5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and considers all of the independent non-
executive directors are independent.
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Auditor

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2022
have been audited by Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited. A resolution will be
submitted at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the company
to re-appoint Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited as auditor of the company.
There has been no change in the auditor of the company in the recent
three years.

By order of the board
Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent

Hong Kong, 17 June 2022
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Independent Auditor’s Report

@ pakertilly
K B (8] P

Independent auditor’s report to the members
of ITE (Holdings) Limited

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of ITE (Holdings)
Limited (the “company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as the “group”) set out on pages 70 to 138, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2022, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the group as at 31 March
2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA"”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.
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Key audit matter
BEREKREE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
EENERNNEERRETSE

Revenue recognition on service contracts BRIE & KK 22 FERE

Refer to notes 2(s), 4 and 33(a) to the consolidated financial statements ;&2 B4 & B I RERMzE2(s) * 4533(a)

Revenue and costs of smartcard systems, radio frequency
identification (“RFID”) and IT services contracts are recognised by
reference to the stage of completion of the contract activity at the
end of the reporting period.

The stage of completion requires the management to estimate the
total contract costs expected to be incurred in completing each of the
contracts undertaken by the group.

Revenue is one of the key performance indicators for the group. It
is significant to the consolidated financial statements and requires
judgements in applying the input method for recognising revenue
from related service contracts.

BRERARS - FIEER R E AR WS ERANRERERRNTIA
D AT HERR o

ERERELEAEEETBEANAAENAKREAAGHTEIAS
IHg =

HRKEEGEE M BRRNEZ R AT 2 AN T A S LA
REMENRBE A O - BEDAEEES —(ERRRRER -

Our audit procedures included but were not limited to:

Obtaining an understanding of the key controls
over the process that the management performed
in relation to the estimation of total costs and the
determination of the status of completion of the
service contracts;

Discussing with the responsible project leaders in
respect of the preparation of approved budgets
and the determination of stage of completion as at
end of the reporting period;

Checking and testing, on a sampling basis, the
contract sum and budgeted costs to the signed
service contracts and approved budgets, and on a
sampling basis, checking to actual costs incurred,
progress billings to date and any provisions for any
foreseeable losses as at the end of the reporting
period; and

Evaluating and assessing management'’s estimates
in their determination of, among other matters,
the percentage of completion of the service
contracts, actual costs incurred to date, estimated
costs to completion and provisions for loss making
contracts.
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Key audit matter
BREKREE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
EENERNMEEBRENEE

Impairment assessment of trade receivables and contract assets & 5 EWHER &N EENRETE

Refer to notes 2(i), 2(j), 2(I)(i), 17, 23(a) and 33(b) to the consolidated financial statements

ESHERAMBHERMEE26) - 2() ~ 2(0G) ~ 17 - 23(a) SL K 33(b)

As at 31 March 2022, trade receivables and contract assets were
significant to the group, amounted to an aggregate total of
HK$2,335,327, represented 8% of the total assets of the group.

Management performed the impairment assessment of trade
receivables and contract assets as at 31 March 2022 which requires
significant estimation in determining the expected credit loss and
this is based on information including but not limited to, credit loss
experience, aging analysis, past repayment history and financial
capability of the customers.

Management also considered forward-looking information that may
impact the customers’ ability to repay the outstanding balances
in order to estimate the expected credit losses for the impairment
assessment.

This area would be focused on because it requires a high level of
management judgement and the amounts involved are material.

REZZEZZF=A=+—H S4A5ESEENEFHRUGFBERENEE
£53£2,335,327 87T - thAEBEBEESY °

EEER_ZT_—_F=A=1t—"RUEZFREFBARENEELETRE
AHE - REEREHEEERSRENGE - AERETER (BEET
BREFPHNEEBIEESE - Rk - BEERCHRUKLES)

BEEENEREIAGEZETFEEREESRETNEREN - M
EFffEELRHE R ERMAE -

HREHDFEZEREREAB R SR EEERX @ FIARERFEIN

Our audit procedures included but were not limited to:

- Understanding the status of each of the receivables
that was past due through discussions with
management and project team;

- Checking, on a sample basis, the accuracy of
the trade receivables aging analysis used by
management to estimate the appropriate provision
for loss allowance;

- Checking, on a sample basis, the subsequent
settlement of trade receivables and contract assets
by customers after the year end date;

- Evaluating management’s impairment assessment
and explanations on each of the significant trade
receivables and contract assets as at 31 March
2022 with reference to supporting evidence
such as payment history of the customers,
correspondences with customers and search of the
customers’ public profiles; and

- Checking the contracts with customers with
relevant contract services schedules and
recalculated to assess if the contract assets and
revenue has been properly recognised over the
scheduled period.
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Information Other than the Consolidated
Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report
Thereon

The directors of the company (the “Directors”) are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises all the information
included in the annual report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon (the “other information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit,
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors and the Audit
Committee for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the Directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are
responsible for assessing the group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either
intend to liquidate the group or to cease operations, or have no realistic

alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the group’s financial

reporting process.

ITE (Holdings) Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22 3§

BAMERE RAABERE EER

ARAER([EF]) AHEMERNARZEE - HMEHR
([EMER]) BEMEHENFEROAEER  ETRELR
BIBRER RES UL T HAO B RS

==
S e U EMENEREMTZARKE SR

REEEREAUBRERNE  EENAERMELME
B mZREMENEERESUBRRARESEER
BEPEZNEHFEERNT @ IUFHFEERERR
it i B FER AR EEN &R E B H A1 EUS A H & R
TOIERREMEMDREAERRL - EFEERES
BRE=E - slit - BFHAFELRS -

EERBEREEENGEUBRREAR
EWEE

ERAEFAARRBEEESHMASEMOETEY R
SEARBERAKINKEEZNR  REEEMmM A FHR
RIENHERA M BRE  REZETHREGSPBERE
BUENERARNEE  UEZSFaUBHRRISER
RERFE SR R MG B E A RR AL -

N

ERESAVBEHRE BEFABENE ESEFER
EHEEN  URBEBSELEEHNER (WER) - BRI
E=HS EEEBRAFLEE  IFU 2L EE M
BERATHINE - TABRANFHECE RERNEDE

BEEENPBRERE -

B
N
R
pill
i3

&

= 7R
m B

A



Independent Auditor’s Report

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of

users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and, obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional

omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the group’s internal control.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the Directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
AN R R

- Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair

presentation.

- Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the group
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance
of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit

opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
AR A R

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have EENAEZEZESELER  BHES M/\ﬁ% v
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, H&MEEEEEZNK @ WHEKEFEBAEHEERASTE
and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that E&EEZIENAAEBEKIEMEIE - LRIERKR Tﬂ%i”
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where  fTEhskiHREAN; #5EHE (20ERA) -

applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we HEBZEZESSEBHEIEH - ke TE B AR B4R & Bt
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the i%iﬁi’%ﬂ’]%*+§ﬁﬁézzﬁ’l$lﬁ & ﬁﬂ%ﬁifﬁﬁ%%ﬁ$l§ o
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore EEZEMMEPHRZEETE - RIPDEFRIVERT R

the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report FHAREEZEZZE @ EBEHERLNBERLT @ HEETE
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or EIEEEREPEBESFTHERNAABRRBLEENR
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should ~ Rflz @ AIEEAE N EEREFEEZSE ©

not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of

doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest

benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent — EHABIZEENBRENZBETLEAGBARSETRE
auditor’s report is Tong Wai Hang.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited ABEBETMEXAERAR
Certified Public Accountants HE SR

Hong Kong, 17 June 2022 BB ZEZ_FA+tH
Tong Wai Hang BET

Practising Certificate number P06231 HHEFEMRP06231
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

mreEmREMEERER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=F=—F=A=+—HIFE (LABTIE)

Note 2022 —EF=-—4F 2021 — & ——4F
Bt Ak HK$ % T HK$7E 7T

Revenue W= 4 32,655,984 49,749,878
Cost of services rendered B R4 AR S B A AR (18,908,329) (33,206,556)
Cost of sales 2 EEYIRAR (62,169) (154,475)
Gross profit EF 13,685,486 16,388,847
Other revenue and other gains, net  HE Uk zs & Hith B Uk S 5 2,173,178 3,029,915
Administrative expenses THE F (9,478,342) (10,574,555)
Finance costs B 7 ik 7K 6(a) (128,356) (391,020)
Profit before taxation BB AR R 6 6,251,966 8,453,187
Income tax FriSHt 7(a) (89,780) =
Profit for the year attributable to F R4 2 AHEE AEEEF

owners of the company 6,162,186 8,453,187
Other comprehensive income Hitp 2 EBA
Item that may be reclassified to HZ R pEEF 72 B ) E H

profit or loss, net of nil tax: (FEFIEFE)
Exchange differences on translation of /@SN EFSE R E =58

foreign operations (16,669) (369,466)
Other comprehensive expense for FREMEEZH

the year (16,669) (369,466)
Total comprehensive income for FRZAQTEF AEBERIR

the year attributable to owners ZHABRE

of the company 6,145,517 8,083,721
Earnings per share BREF 11
Basic and diluted (HK cents) HEARREE (BL) 0.67 0.91

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BRI R

As at 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) R=F==F=A=+—H (LBE5E)

Note 2022 —E-—F 2021 —F=——4F

P HK$ %t HK$ BT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment LR E 13 1,754,063 4,293,254
Interest in an associate N AR A 14 - =
Goodwill EES 15 = =
1,754,063 4,293,254
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 16 592,164 1,502,145
Trade and other receivables B 5 & E MW GRIE 17 4,400,488 7,342,457
Financial assets at fair value through #EBEBEFEZARERENSHEE 18 52,360 =
profit or loss
Income tax recoverable AT e A S A 84,641 19,028
Pledged bank deposits BEERRITER 19 11,565,893 11,560,594
Cash and cash equivalents BehkIREeEEY 19 11,003,927 9,205,743
27,699,473 29,629,967
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade and other payables B 5 & E M ERFRIE 20 4,001,947 8,071,183
Lease liabilities HERE 21 1,348,979 2,053,575
Provisions e 22 1,432,415 881,165
6,783,341 11,005,923
Net current assets REEEFE 20,916,132 18,624,044
Total assets less current liabilities #EERREBERS 22,670,195 22,917,298
Non-current liabilities FkRBERE
Lease liabilities HEARE 21 121,242 1,886,322
Net assets EEFE 22,548,953 21,030,976
Capital and reserves EXR @ 27
Share capital A&z 9,255,080 9,255,080
Reserves i 13,293,873 11,775,896
Total equity MR 22,548,953 21,030,976

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 17 June

2022

Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent
Director

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated

financial statements.

EEeRN T _F AT tHZERBETE -

Cheng Kwok Hung 21&EK =S
Director BF EE

B 75 B B R AR AR Ut B R & B TS SRR ) — BB
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

mEEREER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #HZE-Z—-—F=A=+—H8 (LABTIE)
Share Share Merger Exchange  Share option  Accumulated Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve losses equity
Bx RHaE aftRE  MEEARE RREGRE ZitF& s
HKSET HK$ET HKSET HK$ET HKSET HKSAT HKSAT
Note (note 27()() ~ (note 27(b)i))  (note 27(b)ii))  (note 27(b)(iv))
(i3 (7o) (RE27oii)  (WEE27)i)  (FSEE27(b)v)
At 1 April 2020 “E"EEMA-A 9,255,080 20,239,745 10,748,910 369,466 2,390,300 (30,056,246) 12,947,255
Changes in equity for the year: FRNERET .
Profit for the year ERah = = - - - 8,453,187 8,453,187
Other comprehensive expense  FREM2ER
for the year - - - (369,466) - - (369,466)
Total comprehensive income ENZEWALE
for the year - - - (369,466) - 8,453,187 8,083,721
Lapse of share aptions Kieelig 26(a) = = = = (183,600 183,600 =
At 31 March 2021 and RZB=-5ZB=t-AR
1 April 2021 “E--FmA-H 9,255,080 20,239,745 10,748.910 - 2,206,700 (21,419.459) 21,030,976
Changes in equity for the year: FREERET :
Profit for the year Emafl = = = = - 6,162,186 6,162,186
Other comprehensive expense  EREBZER
for the year - - - (16,669) - - (16,669)
Total comprehensive income ERZEWALE
for the year - - - (16,669) - 6,162,186 6,145,517
Dividend in respect of previous year 4R 88tk R ft
approved and paid 10(0) - (4,627 540) - - - - (4,627,540)
Lapse of share options KR 26(3) - - - - 2,206,700) 2,206,700 -
At 31 March 2022 RZB--§=R=1-A 9,255,080 15,612,205 10,748.910 (16,669) - (13,050,573) 22,548,953

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GEEHERER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=ZF==%F=A=+—HILFE (LLETIIE)

Note 2022 — % 2021 =2 =—F
Bt HK$#8 7T HK$& 7T
Operating activities R
Profit before taxation B 75 B A 6,251,966 8,453,187
Adjustments for: B THISIEEL A
— Fair value loss on financial assets at — BRERRARERENEE
fair value through profit or loss BEMNATEERE 5 34,540 -
— Loss on disposal of financial assets at — HEFBESRAN ERER
fair value through profit or loss CREENERE 5 30,641 =
— Interest income — FEWA 5 (5,371) (54,403)
— Dividend income from listed equity — TS ESMRR B A
investments 5 (11,952) -
— Finance costs — BAFS A AN 6(a) 128,356 391,020
— Depreciation —E 6(c) 2,081,068 2,761,935
— (Gain)/loss on disposal of property, — HEWE « BEREREN
plant and equipment (Yezs),B518 5/6(c) (87.,882) 45,734
— Write-off of inventories — FEMSH 6(c) 1,107,487 -
Operating profit before changes in REEE S AL BT
working capital 9,528,853 11,597,473
(Increase)/decrease in inventories F& (#8m), md (197,506) 287,958
Decrease in trade and other receivables B 5 & E b RN 2,941,969 3,124,004
Decrease in amount due from an FETHSE & A RIFRIER A
associate - 400,000
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other B 5 NE Mt ENTRE CRd),
payables 0 (4,069,236) 578,960
Increase in provisions BN 551,250 451,992
Cash generated from operations EBRELERS 8,755,330 16,440,387
Tax (paid)/refunded, net Tk (2f4) iRE (FE) (155,393) 29,437
Net cash generated from operating REXRELBHESFE
activities 8,599,937 16,469,824
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

;\\/\ Eﬁi/}lbi%

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE_T-—F=A=+—HIEFE CABTIIE)

Note 2022 — - 2021 —ZB=——*%F
Bt HK$#E T HK$E T

Investing activities REED
Payment for purchase of property, SEEYE - BE KRG

plant and equipment (33,495) (33,626)
Payment for purchase of financial assets XNBEEFEBBERRALERE

at fair value through profit or loss EI’J/\EEEF (172,950) -
Proceeds from disposal of financial HESEBEREA N ERIERN

assets at fair value through profit ﬁaﬂﬁ%%)\

or loss 55,409 -
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWZE « R REEBA

plant and equipment 579,500 21,000
Dividend received AR S 11,952 -
Interest received BUFIE 5,371 54,403
Net cash generated from investing REFHELERSEE

activities 445,787 41,777
Financing activities REEE)
Interest paid BEATALE 24 - (451,892)
Capital element of lease rental paid BENEERENEARTE 24 (2,469,676) (2,415,601)
Interest element of lease rental paid BENEERENFETE 24 (128,356) (189,182)
Repayment of loans to related parties BB FRIBEALER 24 - (8,800,000)
Dividend paid BATARE (4,627,540) -
Increase in pledged bank deposits BRI T I AN (5.299) (41,953)
Net cash used in financing activities MEEBFMARESFE (7,230,871) (11,898,628)
Net increase in cash and REeRASESEYFEEM

cash equivalents 1,814,853 4,612,973
Cash and cash equivalents at the FHINRERASEEY

beginning of the year 9,205,743 4,592,770
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes INESRE R BB ) R (16,669) -
Cash and cash equivalents at the end FRNEERESEEY

of the year 19 11,003,927 9,205,743

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated  Mi# &I AEKILFiRE FBsRK N —HH

financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=ZF==%F=A=+—HILFE (LETIIE)

General information

ITE (Holdings) Limited (the “company”) is incorporated in the
Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability
under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. The address
of its registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box
2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The address of
the principal place of business of the company and its operating
subsidiaries is Units C & D, 1st Floor, Por Yen Building, 478 Castle
Peak Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The company’s shares are listed on the GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Exchange”).

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2022 comprise the company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “group”).

The company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 31.

Significant accounting policies
(a) Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs"), which collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs"”) and Interpretations issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
These consolidated financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the GEM of the Exchange (the “GEM Listing
Rules”).

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to HKFRSs that
are first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the group. Note 3 provides information on
any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial application
of these developments to the extent that they are relevant to
the group for the current accounting period reflected in these
consolidated financial statements.

A summary of the significant accounting policies adopted by the
group is set out below.

—REF

ITE (Holdings) Limited ([R5 ]) & B S5
BB —REREBRAF - Hakftib 2 A Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands @ KR & &
HEBENBARMNEEEEMB BB B NESILE
4785 EMABE 1 CKDE °

ARAFRHBORESBAERSER AR ([
Frl) GEM kT °

HE—ZT - —F=A=+—HIEFENGEAWBR
REERARAREMBAR (BARAEER[RE
) -

ARBB—REERAR ENBARNEEZE
EH RT3 -

FESITHEE
(a) EHREBH

U ERa MK HmR HIREBEMEANE BT IEREE
AIRE - AR BEE B ST A S RMA AT
BERNENZEHEREEN  FEESHENR
2E  BEARGFRURETERTDEHIHNEER
E o WEEEBHRERNT B RIM(GEME S L
MARAD (TGEM_ETARAN ) &y B E R -

BRSNS ERME TRETNEEHBRE
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RERM - M3 RMAHERERAHAERMS
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
rE R ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements is the historical cost basis except
for the financial assets at fair value through profit or loss which
are stated at their fair values as explained in accounting policy set
out in note 2(k).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$"), except where indicated otherwise, which is also
the functional currency of the company.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies
and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making the judgements about carrying values of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of HKFRSs
that have significant effect on these consolidated financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are
discussed in note 33.

(c)  Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the group. The group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the entity. When
assessing whether the group has power, only substantive rights
(held by the group and other parties) are considered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B HRR N

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=Z——#=A=+—HI-5E (ETHIE)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(c) Subsidiaries (continued)

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the consolidated
financial statements from the date that control commences until
the date that control ceases. Intra-group balances, transactions
and cash flows, and any unrealised profits arising from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains
but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

In the company’s statement of financial position, an investment in
a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment losses (see note 2(l)
(ii)). The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the company
on the basis of dividend received or receivable.

(d) Associate

An associate is an entity in which the group or company has
significant influence, but not control or joint control, over its
management, including participation in the financial and operating
policy decisions.

An investment in an associate is accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements under the equity method. Under the equity
method, the investment is initially recorded at cost, adjusted
for any excess of the group’s share of the acquisition-date fair
values of the associate’s identifiable net assets over the cost of
the investment (if any). The cost of investment includes purchase
price, other costs directly attributable to the acquisition of the
investment, and any direct investment into the associate that
forms part of the group’s equity investment. Thereafter, the
investment is adjusted for the post acquisition change in the
group’s share of the associate’s net assets and any impairment loss
relating to the investment (see note 2(I)(ii)). At each reporting date,
the group assesses whether there is any objective evidence that
the investment is impaired. Any acquisition-date excess over costs,
the group’s share of the post-acquisition, post tax results of the
associate and any impairment losses for the year are recognised in
profit or loss, whereas the group’s share of post-acquisition post
tax items of the investee’s other comprehensive income is included
in the group’s other comprehensive income in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

When the group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in the
associate, the group's interest is reduced to nil and recognition of
further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the group
has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments
on behalf of the associate. For this purpose, the groups’ interest
in the associate is the carrying amount of the investment under
the equity method together with the group’s long-term interests
that in substance form part of the group’s net investment in the
associate.

2
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sre MR R MY AT

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=F==F=A=+—HLFE (LLETIIE)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(d) Associate (continued)

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions between
the group and its associate are eliminated to the extent of the

2

EFEFEBUR ()
(d) BEAT (E)

ZK%E@EH&%%’ATZF‘?x%E’Hﬁ“fﬁW 5 ok &
RSB PR E N R RS RIR T IARE -

group’s interest in the associate, except where unrealised losses ﬁf#*ﬁ*’* ERNRZPEEEEELTRE £t
provide evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred, in ER T EERR BT R - GRRSEREETT
which case they are recognised immediately in profit or loss. VA%f8H -

(e)  Goodwill (e) MEE

Goodwill represents the excess of EESREE=

(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree and the fair value of the group’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree; over

(i) EEENAE - AORREE T SR R s
TSR 0 B I AN SR L SR RS A BRI T Bk
AESO AR ERRE Bl

(ii) the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets and (ii) REZR - BB AN HINEERE
liabilities measured as at the acquisition date. BN AR IFERZEEE ©
When (i) is greater than (i), then this excess is recognised (NVELL()VERR =Bl EEaERAE

immediately in profit or loss as a gain on a bargain purchase.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
Goodwill arising on a business combination is allocated to each
cash-generating unit, or groups of cash generating units, that is
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination and is
tested annually for impairment (see note 2(I)ii)).

On disposal of a cash-generating unit during the year, any
attributable amount of purchased goodwill is included in the
calculation of the profit or loss on disposal.

(f)  Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated

statement of financial position at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses (see note 2(l)(ii)).

%Hﬁlﬁ%ﬁﬁfﬂﬁlm ®

FB T RKAR R HRER BT o I%ﬂ‘i/\ﬁﬁﬁ
EENBESE I REASERERSERRALR

RE e BRI ENRE S EL B FF E\‘Jﬁﬁf
mE (R HTE230)) -

REAHERSELS
EfRSEEMALEREN

i - AEABAREREGN
FTE -
f) ¥% BEERE

ME - HiE RBRERE AR R E R EBER
fREMBAHRRIIAR (REE20)G)

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of M -~ BERBEOITE - RZFRAR LT T ER
property, plant and equipment, less their estimated residual value, BE (WE)  EREFtAERAFHRNRERED BT

if any, using the straight-line method over their estimated useful
lives as follows:

B TENAERFHNT

— Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the —HEYmFEEE DY 4F sk Fl & HA
lease terms and 4 years (R&EE R

— Furniture and fixtures 4 years — RRREE usgS

— Computer and other equipment 4 years — B R HE AR usfes

— Motor vehicles 5 years — )R8 Faks

— Right-of-use assets (see note 2(g)) ~ Over the lease terms —FREEE (RIffE2(g) HEFH

The useful life of an asset, its depreciation method and residual
value, if any, are reviewed annually.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=Z——#=A=+—HI-5E (ETHIE)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(f)  Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item
of property, plant and equipment are determined as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
item and are recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement
or disposal.

(g) Leases

At inception of a contract, the group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease
if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. Control
is conveyed where the customer has both the right to direct the
use of the identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from that use.

As a lessee

At the lease commencement date, the group recognises a right-
of-use asset and a lease liability, except for short-term leases that
have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value
assets. When the group enters into a lease in respect of a low-
value asset, the group decides whether to capitalise the lease on
a lease-by-lease basis. The lease payments associated with those
leases which are not capitalised are recognised as an expense on a
systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments payable
over the lease term, discounted using the interest rate implicit in
the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, using a
relevant incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition, the
lease liability is measured at amortised cost and interest expense
is calculated using the effective interest method. Variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or rate are not included
in the measurement of the lease liability and hence are charged to
profit or loss in the accounting period in which they are incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised is
initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount
of the lease liability plus any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date, and any initial direct costs incurred.
Where applicable, the cost of the right-of-use assets also includes
an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying
asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is
located, discounted to their present value, less any lease incentives
received. The right-of-use asset is subsequently stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see notes 2(f)
and 2(I)(ii)).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
rE R ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=F==F=A=+—HLFE (LLETIIE)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(g) Leases (continued)
As a lessee (continued)

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in future
lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, or there
is a change in the group’s estimate of the amount expected to
be payable under a residual value guarantee, or there is a change
arising from the reassessment of whether the group will be
reasonably certain to exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the
right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a change in
the scope of a lease or the consideration for a lease that is not
originally provided for in the lease contract (“lease modification”)
that is not accounted for as a separate lease. In this case the lease
liability is remeasured based on the revised lease payments and
lease term using a revised discount rate at the effective date of
the modification. The only exceptions are any rent concessions
which arose as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic
and which satisfied the conditions set out in paragraph 46B of
HKFRS 16 Leases. In such cases, the group took advantage of the
practical expedient set out in paragraph 46A of HKFRS 16 and
recognised the change in consideration as negative variable lease
payments in profit or loss as if it were not a lease modification.

The group presents right-of-use assets in ‘property, plant
and equipment’ and presents lease liabilities separately in the
statement of financial position.

(h) Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable
value.

Cost is calculated using the first-in, first-out cost formula and
comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other
costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which
the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-
down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of
inventories are recognised as an expense in the period the write-
down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-
down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the amount of
inventories recognised as an expense in the period in which the
reversal occurs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=ZF==%F=A=+—HILFE (LETIIE)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(i) Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration. A right to receive consideration
is unconditional if only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due. If revenue has been
recognised before the group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration, the amount is presented as a contract asset (see
note 2(j)).

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest
method less allowance for credit losses (see note 2(I)(i)).

0] Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the group recognises revenue
(see note 2(s)) before being unconditionally entitled to the
consideration under the payment terms set out in the contract.
Contract assets are assessed for expected credit losses (“ECLs")
in accordance with the policy set out in note 2(I)(i) and are
reclassified to receivables when the right to the consideration has
become unconditional (see note 2(i)).

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the group recognises the related revenue
(see note 2(s)). A contract liability would also be recognised if
the group has an unconditional right to receive consideration
before the group recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a
corresponding receivable would also be recognised (see note 2(i)).

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract
asset or a net contract liability is presented. For multiple contracts,
contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are
not presented on a net basis.

(k)  Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL") are
either investments classified as held for trading or designated as
at fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition. These
investments are subsequently measured at fair value. Gains or
losses arising from changes in fair value of these investments
are recognised in profit or loss. Dividends from an investment in
equity securities are recognised in profit or loss as other revenue in
accordance with the policy set out in note 2(s)(vi).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
rE R ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=F==F=A=+—HLFE (LLETIIE)

2  Significant accounting policies (continued) 2 FEEHBK ()

()  Credit losses and impairment of assets () FEEBBEREERE

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and contract assets (i) KEEMIARAGHNEENEEEBE

The group recognises a loss allowance for ECLs on the following AEEFA TEEMEHEEEEEREBEME

items:

- financial assets measured at amortised cost (including -~ REHEKATENeREE (BREEeRE
cash and cash equivalents, pledged bank deposits, trade ©EEY  BEBRITER - BHEKK
receivables, deposits and other receivables); and H Rl hEMEKFIE) &

= contract assets as defined in HKFRS 15 (see note 2())). = BB RELERFISHAATHENE

E (RHfEE2(3)) -

Other financial assets measured at fair value, including equity HMeMEE (REESEF EAABEEENS
securities measured at FVTPL are not subject to the ECL BEEGTE) AT HEREEBBELTME -
assessment.

Measurement of ECLs BHEEEENTE

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit BHEEEEAEEBEOBIEMEME - FEE
losses are measured as the present value of all expected cash BUMEESRREe=mNRE (BREEOENT
shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the AEBMR e REEAEBEEFRERNREREL
group in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the FEZERE)GTE o

group expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the following MBAIR B ERX - BITEAR & ZFEHA A TRER

discount rate where the effect of discounting is material: RBLIR -

= fixed-rate financial assets, trade and other receivables and = ELEMEE B2 REMEYRKIENR
contract assets: effective interest rate determined at initial BHEE  RYIPERKET N ERF X
recognition or an approximation thereof. S ERPUE -

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the HETEREEEERMERNRRARNAAEET

maximum contractual period over which the group is exposed to HiEERBNRRESHHHE -

credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the group takes into account reasonable and REAERACEEEHER - AEEgERERFMLE

supportable information that is available without undue cost BERAREE N TR SR SRR EER - hIE

or effort. This includes information about past events, current BIEARBESEM - BRI KRR RAE AR S T8 A

conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. BWER -
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=Z——#=A=+—HI-5E (ETHIE)

Significant accounting policies (continued)

) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and contract assets
(continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)
ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are expected to
result from possible default events within the 12 months
after the reporting date; and

- lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected to result
from all possible default events over the expected lives of
the items to which the ECL model applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and contract assets are
always measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. ECLs on
these financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix based
on the group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors and an assessment of both the
current and forecast general economic conditions at the reporting
date.

For all other financial assets, the group recognises a loss allowance
equal to 12-month ECLs unless there has been a significant
increase in credit risk of the financial instrument since initial
recognition, in which case the loss allowance is measured at an

amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

2

TEREHEE (&)

() FEBEREERE (&)

(i) RKEEBMTARAGHNEENERER (&)

BEEERENE (B)
EHEEBERBIATEEANS

- 1218 ARBEERR  EREBEH %121

AR REE A MR K E 1 T B B TR H &S
B Rk
- EEEXHMNBHEEEHE - 5RHAEE

BIRE 2 E IR B /TR AT A8 WﬁﬁﬁTé
ENEMMERHTRHEE

BIRBAFERANBEENBRREE ERERAN
EEERPNRBEEEENSENE - RHREH
H ZEeREENTEHREEBRIREASEN
BECERBRCRERBRBERETHG  RIEE
LN ESHAESE S SRS TDNSEV PN ST s
HETHE -

SAEREMERMTAMS  ARBEERBEFN12
BEARBEEBERNERER RIESBRTARGE
B B M RERE AR - U BERT - ERE
BIZAERBER XN REREE BB SR

=

= °

ITE (Holdings) Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22 43R



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sre MR R MY AT

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=F==F=A=+—HLFE (LLETIIE)

2

Significant accounting policies (continued) 2

() Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and contract assets
(continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition, the group compares
the risk of default occurring on the financial instrument assessed
at the reporting date with that assessed at the date of initial
recognition. In making this reassessment, the group considers
that a default event occurs when the borrower is unlikely to pay
its credit obligations to the group in full, without recourse by the
group to actions such as realising security (if any is held). The
group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue cost
or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial

recognition:

- failure to make payments of principal or interest on their
contractually due dates;

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in a financial
instrument’s external or internal credit rating (if available);

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; and

- existing or forecast changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have a significant
adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to meet its obligation
to the group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=Z——#=A=+—HI-5E (ETHIE)

Significant accounting policies (continued)

) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and contract assets
(continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments, the
assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is performed
on either an individual basis or a collective basis. When the
assessment is performed on a collective basis, the financial
instruments are grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics,
such as past due status and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect changes in
the financial instrument’s credit risk since initial recognition. Any
change in the ECL amount is recognised as an impairment gain or
loss in profit or loss. The group recognises an impairment gain or
loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment
to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account.

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with note 2(s)(v) is
calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset unless the financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e. the
gross carrying amount less loss allowance) of the financial asset.

At each reporting date, the group assesses whether a financial
asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset is credit-impaired when
one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Re BRI
For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=F==F=A=+—HLFE (LLETIIE)

2  Significant accounting policies (continued) 2 FEEHBK ()

()  Credit losses and impairment of assets () GEFEREEREE)
(continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and contract assets (i) RESMITARENEENEEEE (&)

(continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income (continued) STEF S AR ERE (&)

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the PHEELREERENEFREENTISHES
following observable events: "

= significant financial difficulties of the debtor; = BEEABERMBEEE ;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in = EBR) - Pl R SIEEZ N SR E

interest or principal payments;

- it becoming probable that the borrower will enter into = B AR e ESET A M B EA
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

- significant changes in the technological, market, economic = B - T35 - RABESEERFE LR EER
or legal environment that have an adverse effect on the NEKPHFZEHEREL ;30
debtor; or

- the disappearance of an active market for a security = B E B T % R BT A PR B R 2 B K o

because of financial difficulties of the issuer.

Write-off policy W SH R

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset or contract asset is M ERR EWmIEIHAIEE - @REEHANEER
written off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there is no LEREEEHEMEE (o 2HM) - ZERBFHER
realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the EAEERERBFAREEESRAKIRAIEE R
group determines that the debtor does not have assets or sources WM AERBMIFN S

of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the
amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously written off & 14 LKz [] 5E AT 55 /0 & 2= A U Bl BRI 7E B M T =R

are recognised as a reversal of impairment in profit or loss in the ARERE o
period in which the recovery occurs.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=Z——#=A=+—HI-5E (ETHIE)

Significant accounting policies (continued)

) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(ii) Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period to identify indications that
the following assets may be impaired or, except in the case of
goodwill, an impairment loss previously recognised no longer

exists or may have decreased:

- property, plant and equipment, including right-of-use
assets;

- goodwill;
- investment in an associate; and

- investment in a subsidiary in the company’s statement of

financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated.

- Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of
its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset. Where an
asset does not generate cash inflows largely independent
of those from other assets, the recoverable amount is
determined for the smallest group of assets that generates
cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE=—Z—=—

Significant accounting policies (continued)

0)

(ii)

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

Impairment of other assets (continued)
Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the
carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-generating unit
to which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating
units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating unit (or
group of units) and then, to reduce the carrying amount
of the other assets in the unit (or group of units) on a pro
rata basis, except that the carrying value of an asset will
not be reduced below its individual fair value less costs of

disposal (if measurable) or value in use (if determinable).
Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment
loss is reversed if there has been a favourable change in
the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals
of impairment losses are credited to profit or loss in the
year in which the reversals are recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=Z——#=A=+—HI-5E (ETHIE)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(m) Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the
relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive

income or equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for
the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in

respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable
temporary differences respectively, being the differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from

unused tax losses and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities,
and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which the asset
can be utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that may
support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those that will arise from
the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences, provided
those differences relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in the
same period as the expected reversal of the deductible temporary
difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising from the
deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward. The same
criteria are adopted when determining whether existing taxable
temporary differences support the recognition of deferred tax
assets arising from unused tax losses and credits, that is, those
differences are taken into account if they relate to the same
taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected
to reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit
can be utilised.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
(m) Income tax (continued)

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and
liabilities are those temporary differences arising from goodwill
not deductible for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets or
liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided
they are not part of a business combination), and temporary
differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent
that, in the case of taxable differences, the group controls the
timing of the reversal and it is probable that the differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible
differences, unless it is probable that they will reverse in the
future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on
the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying
amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and is reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction
is reversed to the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of
dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the related
dividends is recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=Z——#=A=+—HI-5E (ETHIE)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(m) Income tax (continued)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements
therein, are presented separately from each other and are not
offset. Current tax assets are offset against current tax liabilities,
and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the
company or the group has the legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the following

additional conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the group or
the company intends either to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered, intend to realise the current tax assets
and settle the current tax liabilities on a net basis
or realise and settle simultaneously.

(n)  Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three
months of maturity at acquisition. Cash and cash equivalents are
assessed for ECLs in accordance with the policy set out in note 2(l)

(i).
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE=—Z—=—

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(o) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value.
Trade and other payables are subsequently stated at amortised
cost unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in

which case they are stated at cost.
(p)  Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in

equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

(q) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and
contingent liabilities

(i) Financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the issuer (i.e.
the guarantor) to make specified payments to reimburse the
beneficiary of the guarantee (the “holder”) for a loss the holder
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due

in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Where the group issues a financial guarantee, the fair value of
the guarantee (being the transaction price by reference to fees
charged in an arm’s length transaction for similar services, unless
the fair value can otherwise be reliably estimated) is initially
recognised as deferred income within trade and other payables.
Where consideration is received or receivable for the issuance of
the guarantee, the consideration is recognised in accordance with
the group’s policies applicable to that category of asset. Where no
such consideration is received or receivable, an immediate expense
is recognised in profit or loss on initial recognition of any deferred

income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=Z——#=A=+—HI-5E (ETHIE)

Significant accounting policies (continued)

(q) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and
contingent liabilities (continued)

(ii) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where
the time value of money is material, provisions are stated at the

present value of the expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

(r) Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of
the reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in

profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Non-monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are
stated at fair value are translated using the foreign exchange rates

ruling at the dates the fair value was measured.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(r)  Translation of foreign currencies (continued)

The results of foreign operations are translated into HK$ at the
exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the dates of the transactions. Items of statement of financial
positions are translated into HK$ at the closing foreign exchange
rates ruling at the end of the reporting period. The resulting
exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated separately in equity in the exchange
reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of
the exchange differences relating to that foreign operation is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the profit or loss on
disposal is recognised.

(s) Revenue and other revenue

Income is classified by the group as revenue when it arises from
the sale of goods and the provision of services in the ordinary
course of the group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service
is transferred to the customer at the amount of promised
consideration to which the group is expected to be entitled,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is after
deduction of any trade discounts.

Further details of the group’s revenue and other revenue
recognition policies are as follows:

(i) Service revenue

Service revenue comprises revenue from smartcard systems, radio
frequency identification (“RFID”), information technology (“IT")
and related service contracts.

When the outcome of a service contract can be reasonably
measured, revenue from the contract is recognised progressively
over time using the cost-to-cost method, based on the proportion
of the actual costs incurred relative to the estimated total costs.
The contract asset (either partially or in full) is reclassified to
receivables when the entitlement to payment for that amount has
become unconditional (see note 2())).

ITE (Holdings) Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22 3§

gEr—_T_—_—

2

F=A=+—HLFE CANETIIE)

TESTHER (&)
() SNEBRE (8])

BINEBHRGEERF AINEETRENERRE
RBTT > MBIAKRIAR - AR E HRAOINEE
RME /B - MEANERZREERE(MEZR
Yeas R SNETE W i R DI (F B Rt IR B -

fisd B B BN R TGRS - AHRRIB SN F TS RFTE X Z5
REMMEES BEBEENEREL NSRS -

(s) WEmERHMES

BERARBRAKE B EXZBBRETENHLE R
HEIRTS - AR E RIS Z KA S W o

W RIS T IR A R B T A AR K E K
B (PERARE=TWHNZEcR) eBEET
BERER - Wa N BB EEHRKEMEER - I
RMBERE SHTE ©

REE W REMKRSERBROE - T HIBN
T

(i) B U zs

BR#GUes R BE R F AT - STHRASI - BRI R
HHRAARTS A 4

BRI A B IR A ORERE - RRKAY
BCAE - BICARR S EH A N AR ER ) B BR AR AN L
Bl BHEREN W - @RMEE (THRBMHske
BB ) 1 SR BUHE M A A R AR R B 4R BT 0 JE B TR U BR
R (RHIRE2())



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=Z——#=A=+—HI-5E (ETHIE)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(s) Revenue and other revenue (continued)
(i) Service revenue (continued)

The likelihood of the group earning contractual bonuses for early
completion or suffering contractual penalties for late completion
are taken into account in making these estimates, such that
revenue is only recognised to the extent that it is highly probably
that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur.

When the outcome of the service contract cannot be reasonably
measured, revenue is recognised only to the extent of contract
costs incurred that are expected to be recovered.

(ii) Income from certain contract services from smartcard
systems, maintenance and management services

Income from certain contract services from smartcard systems,
maintenance and management services is recognised on a straight-
line basis over the term of the relevant service contracts.

Income received or receivable in respect of maintenance services
which have not been completed on or before the end of the
reporting period are shown in the consolidated statement of
financial position as deferred maintenance income under contract
liabilities.

(iii) Sales of goods

Revenue is recognised at a point in time the control of the goods
has transferred and when the customer takes possession of and
accepts the products.

(iv) Government grant

Government grant is recognised when the group complies with
the conditions attaching to the relevant grant and the grant is
received or when there is reasonable assurance that they will be
received.

(v) Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective
interest method. For credit-impaired financial assets, the effective
interest rate is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying
amount net of loss allowance) of the financial asset (see note 2(l)
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(s) Revenue and other revenue (continued)
(vi) Dividend income from listed equity investments

Dividend income from listed equity investments is recognised
when the share price of the investments goes ex-dividend.

(t) Employee benefits

(i) Short-term employee benefits and contributions to defined

contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of non-
monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the associated
services are rendered by employees. Where payment or settlement
is deferred and the effect would be material, these amounts are

stated at their present values.
(i) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only when, the
group demonstrably commits itself to terminate employment or
to provide benefits as a result of voluntary redundancy by having
a detailed formal plan which is without realistic possibility of
withdrawal.

(iii) Equity-settled share-based payments

For share options granted under the 2011 Scheme per note 26,
the fair value of share options granted to employees is recognised
as an employee cost with a corresponding increase in a share
option reserve within equity. The fair value is measured at grant
date using the binomial option pricing model, taking into account
the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted.
Where the employees have to meet vesting conditions before
becoming unconditionally entitled to the options, the total
estimated fair value of the options is spread over the vesting
period, taking into account the probability that the options will

vest.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=Z——#=A=+—HI-5E (ETHIE)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(t) Employee benefits (continued)
(iii) Equity-settled share-based payments (continued)

During the vesting period, the number of share options that is
expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting adjustment to the
cumulative fair value recognised in prior years is charged/credited
to the profit or loss for the year of the review, unless the original
employee expenses qualify for recognition as an asset, with a
corresponding adjustment to the share option reserve. On vesting
date, the amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect
the actual number of options that vest (with a corresponding
adjustment to the share option reserve) except where forfeiture
is only due to not achieving vesting conditions that relate to
the market price of the company’s shares. The equity amount is
recognised in the share option reserve until either the options is
exercised (when it is transferred to the share premium account)
or the options expires (when it is released directly to accumulated
losses).

(u)  Research and development costs

Expenditure on research and development activities is expensed in
profit or loss in the year in which it is incurred.

(v) Related parties

(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control of the group;
(ii) has significant influence over the group; or
(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the

group or the group’s parent.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=F==F=A=+—HLFE (LLETIIE)

2  Significant accounting policies (continued)
(v)  Related parties (continued)

(b) An entity is related to the group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the group are members of the same group
(which means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others).

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a

group of which the other entity is a member).
(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the group or an entity
related to the group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii)  The entity, or any member of the group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to the
group or to the group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family

members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by,
that person in their dealings with the entity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=ZF==%F=A=+—HILFE (LETIIE)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(w) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the consolidated financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the group’s
most senior executive management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the group’s
various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of production processes, the
type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not individually
material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these
criteria.

Changes in accounting policies

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to HKFRSs that
are first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Company. None of these developments
are relevant to the group and have had a material effect on how
the group’s results and financial position for the current or prior
periods have been prepared and presented.

The Company has not applied any new standard or interpretation
that is not yet effective for the current accounting period (see note
34).

Revenue

Revenue represents the net sales value of goods supplied to
customers and revenue from services rendered. The amount
of each significant category of revenue from contracts with
customers within the scope of HKFRS 15 is as follows:

2

FEGEEK (&)
(w) DEHE

2B D BIA KRR A M B RER AR E & @D A
Bef  HREHNASESSENTRERER
DEEERTARE R EHKER MR R HERR
etk r B &R HR -

ETHHEREE - @R 5BERNBHTEE G
8 - BRIED AR BAREL - A RE R KR
HE - £ERFME FPEERER - DHEEM
SRERBABNIEREERENEERE - 8
1Rl - ERERIN S TERNKLEDH - MRE
I a AR B M ER] - BIRlsea st -

BT BREH

BEGFMASEME TEENBRELEEL -
NASTMEMRERKAIRRER RS - ZFER
PERSEER - THAKRERRERBEBRE
R E2JNEE R BARGEEAEALE -

ARER B RN 1 RN A & 5t B AR FET
R RBE AP BREEEIEFT (REE34) o

Wy 2%
Wt E M E R T B P s MR ARTS H93UR

& REEBYBRELNF 1S REBALEZDHE
BEERBWEMT

2022 —B_—F 2021 — - —4F

HKS$ %t HK$ AT
Provision of smartcard systems, REBERRL
RFID and IT services S8 K& B A BHE AR TS
— Service revenue — PR Was 22,449,932 39,870,882
— Income from maintenance services — (RERRFUA 9,966,975 9,335,637
— Sales of service related products — HERBHEEEM 239,077 543,359
32,655,984 49,749,878
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=F==F=A=+—HLFE (LLETIIE)

4  Revenue (continued) 4 W= (E&)
2022 —B==F 2021 — T
HKS$ &7t HK$ 7T
Disaggregated by timing of revenue Wees T SRR A D 48
recognition
— Over time — BB 32,416,907 49,206,519
— Point in time — E R REE 239,077 543,359
32,655,984 49,749,878
5 Other revenue and other gains/(losses), 5 HbuzzREMFKE (EiE)
net
2022 —E_-—F 2021 =& - —%F
HKS$ &t HKS & 7T
Other revenue Hib iz
Government grants (Note) BT B (BREE) 1,648,809 2,609,999
Management service income B2 RSN 240,000 240,000
Compensation income FEYRA 22,700 62,332
Interest income FEUA 5,371 54,403
Rent concessions related 20195 2V AR S AR B Y
to COVID-19 (Note 13(b)) R (HiFE13(0)) - 24,000
Dividend income from listed equity EiEEFEAFREMA
investments 11,952 -
Sundry income E g A 221,645 39,181
2,150,477 3,029,915
Other gains, net H At F Wi
Fair value loss on financial assets FIRBERRE AR ERER
at fair value through profit or loss TRIBEM AR EEE (34,540) =
Loss on disposal of financial assets HESBEBRREZEANBEEREN
at fair value through profit or loss ERNEERTE (30,641) =
Gain on disposal of property, HEWE - E REERE
plant and equipment 87,882 -
22,701 -
2,173,178 3,029,915

Note:

Government grants refer to the funding supports offered by the HKSAR
Government on the areas of recruitment and retention of staff and project

development supporting. There was no unfulfilled condition or contingency EIF o

relating to these grants.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=Z——#=A=+—HI-5E (ETHIE)

6  Profit before taxation 6 BRBIANER
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting): BB AR R E0RR (GEA) ¢
2022 =F==F 2021 —T_—F
HK$ &t HK$ 7T
(a) Finance costs: (a) BATERRAN :
Interests on loans from related FAEA TEFEFE
parties - 201,838
Finance charges on lease liabilities HEBRENUHKER 128,356 189,182
128,356 391,020
(b) Staff costs (including directors’ (b) BEIHRA (BEZEEHE)! :
remuneration) *:
Salaries, wages and other benefits %Vﬁ T & RH A 16,845,918 25,793,747
Retirement scheme contributions IRIRETEI R (FHeE25)
(note 25) 636,609 918,589
17,482,527 26,712,336
(c) Other items: () HbIEE :
Auditor’s remuneration ZEEN N & 420,000 403,500
Cost of inventories sold *# 78 &R AR 3,494,444 5,701,764
Depreciation e
— owned property, plant and — BEYE - BEKEE
equipment 66,593 232,774
— right-of-use assets —FREEE 2,014,475 2,529,161
Development costs * D7 991,238 934,247
Exchange loss, net e R BEFE 115,721 16,381
Loss on disposal of property, HEWZE - HERRENERE
plant and equipment - 45,734
Provisions (note 22) B (Mf5E22) 798,826 853,789
Expense relating to short-term leases EHHERKEEEERERRY N
and leases of low-value assets 47,936 48,474
Wirite-off of inventories #* FE M 1,107,487 -
! Development costs included staff costs of HK$553,558 (2021: £ K AR IES53,558B L (Z T = —4F

#H

HK$440,239), which is also disclosed separately in note 6(b).

Cost of inventories sold included write-off of inventories of
HK$1,107,487 (2021: HK$NiIl), which is also disclosed separately in
note 6(c).

440,239%70) B ITRA « thEAIRE EME
(b) B R ©

it

BEHERANEIE1,107,487 8L (ZE=—F :
THAIC) FEME - WEFEEMEBEN 6B
iR o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=F==F=A=+—HLFE (LLETIIE)

7  Income tax 7 Fis®t
(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss (a) RirGiEm kEMEEEERT HFRIERE

and other comprehensive income represents:

2022 —F-—%F 2021 —F=—4F
HK$ &t HKS T

Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax EHNIE — BEFEH
Provision for the year FREHE 89,780 -

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2021: 16.5%) on EEFNEHERE M ERNERR EFM16.5%
the estimated assessable profits during the year, except for one B —F :16.5%)E  BAKEEHHB—FH
REBRIME AR A ZRHFEHEERDE
Hh o ZMB AR EZB BN ERERNTES
8.25% ' SR FEVRERR TS ML E A 16.5% © A&
= H i A B3 AR FE AR B R A SR E R B EEE
1 RGBS A - B EE BT A
BT —F &)

of the subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong within the group
which is a qualifying corporation under the two-tiered Profits Tax
rate regime. For this subsidiary, the first HK$2 million of estimated
assessable profits are taxed at 8.25% and the remaining assessable
profits are taxed at 16.5%. No provision for Hong Kong Profits
Tax has been made for other companies within the group as they
incurred losses for tax purpose or had sufficient tax losses brought
forward to set off estimated assessable profits (2021: HK$Nil).

(b) Reconciliation between income tax and accounting profit (b) RETE T R e =5 F &8 B F X 5 J &
at applicable tax rate: T
2022 —E==F 2021 == —%F
HK$ &t HKS & 7T
Profit before taxation e 25 B A 6,251,966 8,453,187
Notional tax on profit before taxation, FRA AT AR AR 16.5%
calculated at the applicable tax (ZE=——%F :16.5%)
rate of 16.5% (2021: 16.5%) AR RRIE 1,031,573 1,394,775
Tax effect of different tax rates Bt/ A B4R kb 5 Bt = TR
on subsidiaries operating in other Hig &
jurisdictions 27 (14,661)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses TRIRERNB G E 143,799 150,552
Tax effect of non-taxable income BERTWA RS 2 (46,626) (230,325)
Tax effect of prior year's tax losses utilised AR EHIEBENT G2 (1,105,775) (1,451,087)
Tax effect of temporary REER R E B = RE A B 75 5 2
differences not recognised (25,324) 32,962
Tax effect of unused tax KRR AR AT IR EER
losses not recognised HIEE 181,886 117,784
Income tax concession FRiSHiYT 8 (89,780) =
Income tax FriS#t 89,780 -
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=Z——#=A=+—HI-5E (ETHIE)

Income tax (continued) 7  FREH (&)
(c) Deferred tax assets () EEHEEE
At 31 March 2022, the group has not recognised deferred RZTEZZF=A=+—H ARBEENERH
tax assets in respect of unused tax losses of approximately FERWEBABR BRI T EE - AEERBAB
HK$23,829,000 (2021: HK$24,472,000) due to the uncertainty TR 518 i AR R AR IE R TH & E 49 /523,829,00078
of the related tax benefits being realised through future taxable TE(ZZT——4F : 24,472,000/87T) * REAHIBEE
profits. The unused tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely. AR A
(d) Deferred tax liabilities (d) EZEHEEE
At 31 March 2022, there were no significant unrecognised RZTZZZF=A=+—H  WREFMERKE
deferred tax liabilities (2021: HK$Nil). REERBEGF(ZZT=_—F : THT) °
Directors’ remuneration 8 E=EMeS
Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to the GEM Listing BIEGEM LT3 Bl & &7 A A 5151 58 383 15 4% FE 1)
Rules and section 383 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance is EEMEFBOT
as follows:
2022 —E-CHF
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’ and benefits Discretionary scheme Termination
fees in kind bonuses contributions benefits Total
e 2HR RRGHE
E=@e BNRiE gt A BRER &%
HKS$E T HKS$E T HKS$E T HKS$E T HKS$E T HKS$E T
Executive directors HTES
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent ElEy it
(Chief Executive Officer) (7T #3) 69,300 1,807,811 - 18,000 - 1,895,111
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung Ll 69,300 497,526 - 17,678 - 584,504
Mr. Liu Hoi Wah ey e 69,300 - - - - 69,300
207,900 2,305,337 - 35,678 - 2,548,915
Independent non-executive BAFHTES
directors
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony e b 69,300 - - - - 69,300
Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew BREEE 69,300 - - - - 69,300
Mr. Wai Hing Cheung ERf L 69,300 - - - - 69,300
207,900 - - - - 207,900
Total At 415,800 2,305,337 - 35,678 - 2756815
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

8 Directors’ remuneration (continued)

Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to the GEM Listing
Rules and section 383 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance is

as follows: (continued)

BE_T-—F=A=+—HIEFE CABTIIE)

8 EEM= (&)

RIEGEM AR A K & E A B 65 383 1R K R 1Y
BEEMEFFBEMT - (B)

2021 —E-—F
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’  and benefits  Discretionary scheme  Termination
fees in kind bonuses  contributions benefits Total
E2 = ) RINGTE
i EMila MBI {3 B R Bt
HK$ 7T HK$ 7T HK$ 7T HK$ 7T HK$ 7T HK$ 7T
Executive directors HIES
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent 2ENTE
(Chief Executive Officer) (TTiE#E%) 201,825 1,689,747 - 18,000 - 1,909,572
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung BRI 201,825 470,786 - 18,000 - 690,611
Mr. Liu Hoi Wah AsELE 66,825 - - - - 66,825
470,475 2,160,533 - 36,000 - 2,667,008
Independent non-executive BUERITES
directors
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen* FlEREL* 19,800 - - - = 19,800
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony RIZR A 66,825 - - - = 66,825
Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew BRERE 66,825 - - - = 66,825
Mr. Wai Hing Cheung FEREE(RZTZF
(appointed on 1 November 2020)  +—A—BZ) 28,325 - - - - 28,325
Mr. Yeung Kin Hing BRELEN-Z=F
(appointed on 1 August 2020 NA—BZERERR
and resigned on 4 August 20200  —T-T&/\ANA
BHE) - - - - - -
181,775 - - - - 181,775
Total At 652,250 2,160,533 - 36,000 - 2,848,783
* Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen, an independent non-executive director of the & AR BIYIIRTESTHERBELIEN =T

company, passed away on 15 May 2020.

During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, no emoluments
were paid by the group to the directors as an inducement to join
or upon joining the group or as compensation for loss of office. In
addition, none of the directors waived any emoluments during the

years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

e B HRR N

HE-ZT-—F=A=+—HILFE (NETIE)

9  Individuals with highest emoluments 9 BReEHAL
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two (2021: RAM Z=EA WAL (== —F Fﬁﬁ)t’j
two) individuals are directors whose emoluments are disclosed in - BZ%E’]MiE%YEAWES Hep= (=
note 8. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the other —F: =) BRaFATHMEATEAT
three (2021: three) individuals are as follows:
2022 = FE==F 2021 —F——%
HKS$E T HK$ 7T
Salaries and other emoluments e MEMABE 1,815,428 1,455,765
Discretionary bonuses E’JI BIEAL 167,014 159,623
Retirement scheme contributions RRET IR 52,240 54,000
2,034,682 1,669,388
The emoluments of the three (2021: three) individuals with the =M(ZE=—F : =) ZeFALHMES N T T
highest emoluments are within the following band: S EE -

2022 —F=—F 2021 — - —F

Number of Number of
individuals individuals
ATEE ATEE
HK$Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 =7T —1,000,00075 7T 3 3
10 Dividends 10 K2
(a) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the company (a) FAREN T AR B E=RR AR E
attributable to the year
2022 —ZE==F 2021 —E=—%F
HK$ % T HK$7E 7T
Proposed final dividend after the end of s HIRE R A AR AR S
the reporting period — HK$0.6 cents — AR mA%0.6 781U
(2021: HK$0.5 cents) per ordinary share (ZZ=—%F : 0.558) 5,553,048 4,627,540

The proposed final dividend for the year is recommended by the
directors after the end of the reporting period which is to be paid
out of the share premium account of the company. Such dividend
is subject to the approval of the shareholders at the upcoming
Annual General Meeting. These financial statements do not reflect
this dividend payable.

RIEHR T

B X RERAL o ZAR
BERNSESIE  BF
IREZAT o

EEZER AR B RR E E R
BEFARBGRITHRR
MG MAR AL ERRE R
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=F==F=A=+—HLFE (LLETIIE)

10 Dividends (continued) 10 RKRE (&)
(b) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the company (b) BEBEE RN T AR AERRRBR
attributable to the previous financial year, approved and B ERFAREARZ A

paid during the year

2022 —B=—fF 2021 =T =—%F
HKS$ &7t HKS 87T
Final dividend in respect of the previous year, &4 &A% & @A%0.5781l
approved and paid during the year (ZZ=—F: THI W
— HK$0.5 cents (2021: HK$nil) per RHIRR B B R G AL E
ordinary share LA R 37 A+ 4,627,540 -
11 Earnings per share 11 SRER
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit BRERBHNDERARQAEAB AENEEF
attributable to owners of the company of HK$6,162,186 (2021: 6,162,186 7L (ZF = —4F : 8,453,187 L) &k
HK$8,453,187) and the weighted average of 925,508,000 (2021: FABEBITL BRI FIHRE925,508,000%
925,508,000) ordinary shares in issue during the year, calculated ZZ = —4 :925,508,000/%) * HE T :
as follows:
2022 —E==F 2021 = —%F
Issued ordinary shares and weighted average & %77 BA% & @M%
number of ordinary shares NS5 £ 925,508,000 925,508,000
As the company does not have any potential dilutive ordinary HE_Z-_RZITZ - —F=A=+—HILFEW
shares during the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, basic E%‘ET%& 5 TR MERREERRMER o

and diluted earnings per share are the same.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Segment reporting

(@) Operating segment information

The group conducts its business within one business segment,
smartcard systems, RFID, IT services and related services. All of the
group’s products and services are of a similar nature and subject
to similar risk and returns. Accordingly, the group’s operating
activities are attributable to a single operating segment.

(b) Geographical information

The group’s operations were principally located in Hong Kong for
the year (2021: Hong Kong and Macao).

The group’s revenue from external customers and information

about its non-current assets by geographical location are detailed

12

are MR R MY AT

BE_ZT-_—_F=A=1+—HIFE (LABTIE)

7 EWE
(a) EEHBEH

AEBENEERE—ESEDE - DEERESL
ST SRR & B FBHUIRT PA R ARBE RS © FTE RS
B Em MR EAGEROUEES - B Rk ER - &
b ARBNEREHREE—ZEDA -

(b) HEHEHR

AEETREEAREER (ZE_—F: FER
HBPT) e

REBEREINE P U IR E & E R i 5 #B 40
™

below:
Revenue from external customers Non-current assets
HINE F Uz FREBEE

2022 == F 2021 —ZE-—4F 2022 =B==fF 2021 —ZE—_—4F
HKS$E T HKS$BTT HKS$E T HK$ 77T
Hong Kong B8 32,655,984 49,313,166 1,754,063 4,293,254
Macao JRFY - 436,712 = =
32,655,984 49,749,878 1,754,063 4,293,254

() Information about major customers

Revenue from major customers, each of whom amounted to 10%

or more of total revenue of the group, is set out below:

(0 HBEIBEFEHR

EAREENERRBRI0%NEETFAOT

2022 —F=—F 2021 — - —F

HK$% T HK$ 7T
Customer A X 14,113,567 27,600,000
Customer B 2EZ 8,255,802 13,154,329
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=F==F=A=+—HLFE (LLETIIE)

13  Property, plant and equipment 13 ¥¥ - BERRE
Properties Computer
leased for Leasehold Furniture and other Motor
own use improvements and fixtures  equipment vehicles Total
HEEEAN ElR
nx HENEEE HGEREE Hitr%f RE CH
HK$HE T HK$7E T HK$7B T HK$B T HK$ &7 HK$ETT
Cost: A
At 1 April 2020 “Z-ZFNMA-A 1,898,260 873,806 255,048 781,098 3,644,147 7,452,359
Additions NE 3,261,730 = 4,509 29,117 — 3,295,356
Disposals HE (1,898,260) (109,500) (2,095) (105,323) (113,536) (2,228,714)
At 31 March 2021 and RZBZ—45=A=1+-HkK
1 April 2021 e St = 3,261,730 764,306 257,462 704,892 3,530,611 8,519,001
Additions AE = = = 33,495 - 33,495
Disposals HE (570,635) (270,750) (58,511) (142,579) (1,179,607) (2,222,082)
At 31 March 2022 RZE-—#=A=+-H 2,691,095 493,556 198,951 595,808 2,351,004 6,330,414

Accumulated depreciation: REHAE

At 1 April 2020 “E-TEMA-H 1,069,300 718,262 241,391 667,883 928,956 3,625,792
Charge for the year FRME 1,819,072 155,544 5,991 56,284 725,044 2,761,935
Eliminated on disposals e (1,898,260) (109,500) (2,095) (105,323) (46,802)  (2,161,980)
At 31 March 2021 R-Z-—F=A=1+-HRK

and 1 April 2021 “T-—-f#mA-A 990,112 764,306 245,287 618,844 1,607,198 4,225,747
Charge for the year ENTE 1,374,586 - 5,445 49,932 651,105 2,081,068
Eliminated on disposals T ERS (570,635) (270,750) (57,001) (134,340) (697,738)  (1,730,464)
At 31 March 2022 RZE-—#=f=1+—H 1,794,063 493,556 193,731 534,436 1,560,565 4,576,351
Net carrying amount; SRIEME :
At 31 March 2022 RZZE-=—#=f=1+—H 897,032 = 5,220 61,372 790,439 1,754,063
At 31 March 2021 RZE-—-%=Zf=1+—H 2,271,618 = 12,175 86,048 1,923,413 4,293,254
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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BHE_Z-_—FZA=1+—RALFE (AETIIE)

13 Property, plant and equipment (continued) 13 #¥J%¥ - ERHRE (E)
Bt
Right-of-use assets (a EREEE
The analysis of the net carrying amount of right-of-use assets by class BEAEERMNEDNEREEERTENT :
of underlying asset is as follows:
2022 — T 2021 —ZE——%F
HK$#& T HK$A 7T
Properties leased for own use, carried at depreciated ~ TAE{EERANYE - UIFERATIR
cost (note (b)) (Mi5E (b)) 897,032 2,271,618
Motor vehicles, carried at depreciated cost (note (c)) VB - MBI (FiisE(0) 790,439 1,878,547
1,687,471 4,150,165

Details of maturity analysis of lease liabilities and total cash outflow for
leases are set out in notes 21 and 24.

Properties leased for own use

The group has obtained the right to use properties through tenancy
agreement. The leases typically run for a period of 3 years with an
option to renew the lease when all terms are renegotiated. None of the
leases includes variable lease payments.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, additions to right-of-use assets
were HK$3,261,730 which related to the capitalised lease payments
payable for properties under new lease agreements. There was no
addition during the year.

During the year ended 31 March 2021,
concessions in the form of a discount on fixed payment, amounting

the group received rent

to HK$24,000, during the period of severe social distancing and travel
restriction measures due to COVID-19. There was no rental concessions

received during the year.

Motor vehicles for own use

The group leases motor vehicles under leases expiring from 2 to
5 years. At the end of the lease term the group has the option to
purchase the leased motor vehicles at a price deemed to be a bargain
purchase option. None of the leases includes variable lease payments.

HERBSNIHL T REERSREENFA
BERRHEE21 22425 ©

HEFE AR

AEEEEBHERARERS @Eﬁﬁ*@%&éﬂ HE

HR—BRAB=F  LBERN BREEHNE
TE &R B K9 By iR IR Ei%%ﬁi’]i’]T@%Eﬂ&

FALBEEFAHFEMERREE - BHE_F=
—F=ZA=Z+-BFA FENEABEER
3,261,730/8 7L * WEBRREMVFEEESON
BNERNMCBEEX L -

FALEBRFEAEERR -BE_FT_—F=
RA=+—B&A  AR20193 2L KB F 5 AR
BRUR AL SR BB B I R B A - AR BEEFIAE
EFHESE T ANES RN A24,000/87T °

BR”RE

AEEHETERR-BRAMERF - NEEH

FERE - AEEREEUREAEREEZEABA
HEAE - ZFHOH T RBEEFAKAEE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=F==F=A=+—HLFE (LLETIIE)

AN
N

14

Interest in an associate 14 ENRER
2022 —B=—F 2021 —B=—F
HKS$E T HK$E 7T
Unlisted investment, at cost FEEMIRE (FKA) 2,639 2,639
Accumulated share of losses PG 2ETETE (2,639) (2,639)
Particulars of the group’s associate at 31 March 2022 and 2021 RZBZZRZZF-_—F=A=+—H xEED
are as follows: B AR ERAT ¢
Place of
incorporation/ Percentage of
registration equity attributable Principal
Name and operations to the group activities
=L 3 e it B AEBFGEZE DL FEEK
Indirect
iEE
2022 2021
—EBoofF T4
Precision Instrument and ~ Hong Kong 23.99% 23.99%  Provision of custom-developed
Optics Limited B high-end laser scanning microscopes
KRR B R AT = R AR AE L PR T o b R I R
The associate is an unlisted corporate entity whose quoted market BERARNEMSMENIFELMEXELR  RAE
is not available and is accounted for using the equity method in AR E S MR AR ©

the consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=ZF==%F=A=+—HILFE (LETIIE)

Interest in an associate (continued) 14 BN TfkE=s (8)

Summarised financial information in respect of the group’s AEEHWI ELMHERRNMBEHENT -

unlisted associate is as follows:
Precision Instrument and Optics Limited IRABEBRA A

2022 —F=—F 2021 ZE=—%F

HK$ % T HK$7& 7T
Non-current assets FEMEN B EE — 40,636
Current assets mMENEE 408,133 816,646
Current liabilities mEBE 493,700 1,018,039
Net liabilities AfEFE (85,567) (160,757)
Revenue Wiz 430,000 2,150,000
Profit and total comprehensive income i A e Bt 2 E A B ER 75,190 174,024
Shared by the group: REEE
Profit and total comprehensive income (Note) & &l & £ 4th 2 Ux A 4258 (Fff5E) - -
Net assets BEFE = =
Note:  The group has not recognised a share of result of the associate for the fizk: ARUBEARERERTHEL  BREERE
year as it has been limited to HK$Nil. The unrecognised share of profits NI EERAELEEES  BERERIABRETE
for the year and accumulated share of losses up to and as at 31 March T MERAREREGERNRBEERN T ==
2022 is approximately HK$18,038 and HK$20,527 respectively (2021: F=A=1+—"HBHELZ:EES 517%18,038%
share of profits and accumulated losses of HK$41,748 and HK$38,565 TL]20,527 BT (ZT=—F : BIEHHNREE
respectively). BB D R AR41,7487% 7T 38,5658 7T) ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=F==F=A=+—HLFE (LLETIIE)

15 Goodwill 15 BE
HK$#E T

Cost 2%
At 1 April 2020 RNZE-TFMA—H 9,507,923
Eliminated on written-off T 8H B BR (9,507,923)
At 31 March 2021, 1 April 2021 RZEZ—F=A=+—H —FT=—FMHA—H

and 31 March 2022 MZFEZZ—F#=R=+—H =
Accumulated amortisation EX
At 1 April 2020 RZZE-_ZTFMA—H 3,169,307
Eliminated on written-off M sE A RR (3,169,307)
At 31 March 2021, 1 April 2021 RZZE=Z—F=HA=+—H" —&FmA—H

and 31 March 2022 &:%::i:ﬂ =+—H -
Accumulated impairment losses ZBRESE
At 1 April 2020 RZE_ZTFMHA—H 6,338,616
Eliminated on written-off iGN (6,338,616)
At 31 March 2021, 1 April 2021 RN_T—_—F=A=+—08" —FmMA—H

and 31 March 2022 MZEZZF=R=1+—H -
Carrying amount BRTHIE
At 31 March 2022 RZE__F=A=+—H -
At 31 March 2021 RZBE-_—F=A=+—H _

Note:  The goodwill arising from acquisition of a subsidiary in prior years was fizr: BEEBEANBARNEENAMBARTNREET
written-off after deregistration of this subsidiary in the prior year. SH TR o
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=Z——#=A=+—HI-5E (ETHIE)

16 Inventories 16 F&
2022 —EBZ-F 2021 —E_—4F
HK$ % T HK$#E 7T
Raw materials R 144,995 991,035
Work in progress R 291,535 301,974
Finished goods D 155,634 209,136
592,164 1,502,145
17 Trade and other receivables 17 BZRHEMEKRRE
2022 —F==F 2021 —ZT=_—F
HK$ % T HK$7& 7T
Trade receivables B SR FIA 586,526 3,781,381
Contract assets (note 23(a)) ERAEE (FiFE23(@)) 1,748,801 1,259,867
Other receivables H A fEURIE 7,972 16,967
Deposits and prepayments e RENER 2,057,189 2,284,242
4,400,488 7,342,457
All of the trade and other receivables, apart from certain deposits PR 421,172,966 L (ZF = —%F : 1,576,065/
of HK$1,172,966 (2021: HK$1,576,065) are expected to be L) ETHEF N ARENMEE S RHAE
recovered or recognised as expenses within one year. WHRIETEHR —F AR ek ER R ER
An ageing analysis of trade receivables as at the end of the RIEFEZHE - RREHRE S EWIER RER
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: DT -
2022 ZE2=-"F 2021 T —_—4F
HK$ % T HK$7E T
Less than 1 month DR —{E A 471,038 3,700,742
More than 1 month but less than 3 months wmB—EAEIR=(EA 115,488 80,639
586,526 3,781,381
Trade receivables are generally due within 30 to 45 days (2021: 30 BRI HERERBEIOREIS K (ZT=—
to 45 days) from the date of billing. Further details on the group'’s & : 30RE45K) NEIH - FIFRAMIE28(a) A&
credit policy are set out in note 28(a). EOEEBR -
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=F==F=A=+—HLFE (LLETIIE)

18 Financial assets at fair value through profit 18 ZEBEZRAABEERENERE

or loss =3
2022 —F==F 2021 —T_—%F
HK$ % T HK$7E 7T
Listed securities — held-for-trading LET#ES —HEER
— Equity securities in Hong Kong — BBRERE S 52,360 -
Market value of listed securities LhESHNTSERE 52,360 -
The fair value of all equity securities is based on their current bid FIBEERESN AR EHERH G M5B R
prices in an active market. RAEHE °

19 Cash and bank balances and time deposits 19 BERBITEHKUREHER

2022 —BE-—F 2021 — T —%F

HK$# 7T HK$/&7T
Cash and bank balances B e RIRITHER 11,003,927 9,205,743
Time deposits T BiTF R 11,565,893 11,560,594
22,569,820 20,766,337
Less: Pledged bank deposits B BEEIRIRI TR (11,565,893) (11,560,594)
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEEY 11,003,927 9,205,743
Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank B X8 BT SRAR 2 [B] 2 ) 2= WCEUR B4 -+ 3RAT 17 SRR
deposit rates except for time deposits which earns interest at fixed BUWARF EAREE B RTEBAFRFIEmEE -
rate. For the year ended 31 March 2022, time deposits are made HER-_Z_F=A=+—HILFE  EHEKX
for terms of one to three months (2021: one to three months). GH—=2=@A(Z=2=—F: —22=@A8) KT

FERHREFRNESREME -

Bank deposits of US$1,482,847 (equivalent to HK$11,565,893) #~%1,482,847% T (FHE M 11,565,893% ) (=
(2021: US$1,482,163 (equivalent to HK$11,560,594)) has been T —4F 1,482,163 T (4857 11,560,594 7
pledged to secure banking facilities granted to the group (note 29) L)) EEATFERE A FIRT - ERERAQREZE
during the year. MEARRE TIRITEE (MisE29) -
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

20 Trade and other payables

B R mRMN

F=A=t+—HLFE CAVETIIE)

wr

BE-T—_—

20 EZRHEMEMNRE

2022 —B=-=F 2021 ZT=—_—%F
HK$#& T HK$A T
Trade payables 2 2 ER I8 57,840 593,813
Accrued charges and other payables FEETE A M o e /18 2,537,543 4,853,615
Contract liabilities (note 23(b)) a#HEE (ME23(0)) 1,406,564 2,623,755
4,001,947 8,071,183
All of the trade and other payables are expected to be settled ARENE S RAMEMNFBERHR —FR K
or recognised as income within one year or are repayable on FEZSREERHER BN
demand.
The ageing analysis of trade payables as at the end of the RBEHR - REFZAHFEE ZRNFANRER
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: AHTEAT

2022 —B=-=F 2021 —T=_—F

HKS$38 7T HKS$& T

Less than 1 month DR —{E A 42,844 470,667

More than 1 month but less than 3 months meE—EAELR=[A 2,596 26,189

More than 3 months but less than 1 year BBR=EARILKR—F 12,400 96,957

57,840 593,813

21 Lease liabilities 21 HEEE
The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities of TRITAEERGTHAREERENRT SO
the group’s lease liabilities at the end of the reporting period: BB

2022 —F==F 2021 —ZT=-—F

HK$ % T HK$7& 7T

Within 1 year —ER 1,348,979 2,053,575

After 1 year but within 2 years —FRERMTEA 121,242 1,697,477

After 2 years but within 5 years MEBERAFNRN - 188,845

121,242 1,886,322

1,470,221 3,939,897
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE=ZT ==

F=A=+—HLFE CANETIIE)

22 Provisions 22 BE
Defect
Employee liability
benefits period Total
(Note (a)) (Note (b))
EEEA REH &5t
(F¥=E(a)) (FisE(b))
HK$ 7T HK$ 77T HK$E 7T
At 1 April 2021 R-E-_—FmWA—H 500,000 381,165 881,165
Additional provisions recognised, net  ZBIMNEEFHRIFE - 798,826 798,826
Provisions utilised BB A A (50,307) (197,269) (247,576)
At 31 March 2022 RZE-_—F=A=+—H 449,693 982,722 1,432,415
Notes: B -
(a) The provision for employee benefits represents annual leave accrued (a) EERABEDNREEFBRHBELRRIRESH

compensation and long service leave claims made by employees.

(b) The provision for the defect liability period relates to the estimated
cost of work agreed to be carried out for the rectification of smartcard
systems to certain customers. The amount has not been discounted
for the purpose of measuring the provision for defect liability period

because the effect would not be material.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=ZF==%F=A=+—HILFE (LLETIIE)

23 Contract assets and contract liabilities

23 BHNEERAHNER

(@) Contract assets (a) BHEE

Note 2022 ZZZ=Z% 2021 —ZT_—%F
Bt = HKS$ % T HK$ 7T

Contract assets which are included in BIER[E S REMEWRZIE] A

“Trade and other receivables” (note 17) HIA KT FEEWZIAE (FH:E17)
— Service contract works — RIEEHIE 1,663,001 1,226,192
— Retention money receivables — ERREB S (i) 85,800 33,675
1,748,801 1,259,867

As at 1 April 2020, contract assets amounted to HK$1,064,762.

Note:

Retention money receivables represents receivables for which the
group’s entitlement to the consideration was conditional on satisfactory

completion of the retention period.

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract assets

recognised are as follows:

Service contract works

The group’s service contract works include payment schedules which
require stage payments over the service contract period once stipulated
milestones are reached. These payment schedules prevent the build-
up of significant contract assets. A deposit is typically payable up front
and this has resulted in a contract liability at early stages of the project.
And the group also typically agrees to 1 year retention period for 5%
to 10% (2021:

included in contract assets until the end of the retention period as the

5% to 10%) of the contract value. This amount is

group’s entitlement to this final payment is conditional on the group’s

work satisfactorily passing inspection.

—H ' AHEER1,064,7627%

(i) R EE T AN E BN T2
B 1GR3 WER L SR IR HORE R ©

TERK B AR B A A R

HEHRERNEESRBKNTZEN —RIASEFIT

- RBAEHTIE

AEERBENTIRBERBENBHEERLNE

DEBRNROMNHBERE (—BERER) - ﬁt%
NHRARPLEBBREREGNEE - e —RA
EE - MEEBEBVHELESRNAR - ZS%IDT
%ZKJ:@%??JES%§1O% —E=—F:5%%
10%) EMEERAE —FHNREH BAAEKE
Z%?%ﬁt%%%%ﬂéﬂ%&ﬂﬁéﬁ%lI%%%%Li@w
REFAEE - BUEEBEAASHNEE  BEER
BEERAIE -
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23 Contract assets and contract liabilities
(continued)

(b) Contract liabilities

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE=—Z—=—

23

F=A=+—HLFE CANETIIE)

BHREERGHNAE (F)

i

(b) BHES

\

2022 —E=—F 2021 — & ——F

HKS$E T HK$E 7T
Contract liabilities which are included in BERE 5 REAENFRIE A
“Trade and other payables” (note 20) B& R& P TElGRIE (FisE20)
— Service contract works — RIS & A IR 644,369 1,897,685
— Deferred maintenance income — RIERERA 762,195 726,070
1,406,564 2,623,755
Note: B et
(i) Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract (i) HEBRENBESHEBRTZEN — R GMH
liabilities recognised are as follows: W
- Service contract and maintenance works = RIS E # RIRE L2
When the group receives deposits before the service contract and AEBERBEHRRES TAIREUZER « Il
maintenance work commences this will give rise to contract liabilities BREANVHBELESNARL  EEMEBER
at the start of a contract, until the revenue recognised on the project HNEBRBRESEAL - B AAREEER R
exceeds the amount of the deposits. It is a common practice on each BEHRRENELREG - LEBIAERES -
of the group’s service and maintenance contracts to require a deposit
before work commences.
(if) Movements in contract liabilities (ii) AHABENES)
2022 —B==F 2021 — T —%F
HK$38 T HK$#E 7T
At 1 April RmA—B 2,623,755 2,155,324
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of recognising EfERF AN GTAFPEHAR) M
revenue during the year that was included in the contract EENEHNABRD
liabilities at the beginning of the year (2,112,798) (2,144,363)
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of recognising EfERFAREmEENFAEHEE
revenue during the year that incurred during the year A (1,983,904) (1,799,475)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of billings in advance ~ E& X TIZBTFAEME LS LA FEHE AN
of contract works 2,879,511 4,412,269
At 31 March R=A=+—8 1,406,564 2,623,755
(iii) Revenue expected to be recognised in the future arising from contracts (iii) REBFEREEP S AR IET WA TR

with customers in existence at the reporting date

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the group has applied the practical expedient in
paragraph 121 of HKFRS 15 to its contracts for products or services such that the
above information does not include information about revenue that the group
will be entitled to when it satisfies the remaining performance obligations under
the contracts for products or services that had an original expected duration of
one year or less.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=Z——#=A=+—HI-FE (ETIIE)

METEEENEEHR

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from 24
financing activities

AR FRARENBE LTSRS RENE

BEESMIFRENEY  BELGHELNERR
BLBBEHRSNEELHARRNASREB S
DRBARENGARESRERTHREERHHR

The table below details changes in the group’s liabilities from
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which

cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the

group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from

financing activities:

ERE -

Lease Loan from
liabilities related parties Total
(note 21)
HESE BEALER &t
(HM¥=£21)
HK$ATT HK$ATT HK$ & T
At 1 April 2020 R-ZE-_ZTFTA—H 3,093,768 8,800,000 11,893,768
Changes from financing cash flows: BE&ER &S :
Repayments B - (8,800,000) (8,800,000)
Interest paid EASHLE - (451,892) (451,892)
Interest element of lease rentals paid ENEERSHRETE (189,182) - (189,182)
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENHEREeNEARTTE (2,415,601) = (2,415,601)
Total changes from financing cash flows BUEIE & mEB)EEE (2,604,783) (9,251,892)  (11,856,675)
Other changes: HAt s
New leases (note 13) A E (MEE13) 3,261,730 - 3,261,730
Change in accrued interest EXrvillsy =) = 250,054 250,054
Interest expenses (note 6(a)) FEZH (HiFE6()) 189,182 201,838 391,020
Total other changes Hith B 8458 3,450,912 451,892 3,902,804
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 R=FE-_—4%=A=+—8H
E-ZE-_—-FMA—H 3,939,897 - 3,939,897
Changes from financing cash flows: B&ER &R :
Interest element of lease rentals paid BENEERSNFETE (128,356) - (128,356)
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENHEREeNEARTE (2,469,676) = (2,469,676)
Total changes from financing cash flows FRER &R EENERE (2,598,032) = (2,598,032)
Other changes: H s :
Interest expenses (note 6(a)) A B2 (MfsE6(a)) 128,356 = 128,356
At 31 March 2022 REZB-=H=A=+—H 1,470,221 - 1,470,221
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

25

26

Employee retirement benefits

The group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the jurisdiction
of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance and not previously
covered by the defined benefit retirement plan. The MPF scheme
is a defined contribution retirement plan administered by
independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer and
its employees are each required to make contributions to the plan
at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of
monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. The group’s contributions
to the MPF Scheme vest fully and immediately with the employees.
Accordingly, the group’s contributions under the above-mentioned
defined contribution retirement plan had no forfeited contributions

which may be used to reduce the existing level of contributions.

The group’s retirement scheme contributions charged to profit or
loss for the year were HK$636,609 (2021: HK$918,589).

Share option scheme

The company operates the 2011 Scheme for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the group’s operations. Eligible
participants of the 2011 Scheme include the company'’s directors,
including independent non-executive directors, other employees of
the group, suppliers of goods or services to the group, customers
of the group, advisers and consultants, etc. The 2011 Scheme
became effective on 8 August 2011 and, unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that
date.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the 2011 Scheme and any other share option scheme
of the company shall not exceed 30% of the total number of
shares of the company in issue. The maximum number of shares
issuable under share options to each eligible participant in the
2011 Scheme and any other share option scheme of the company
within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the
company in issue at any time. Any further grant of share options
in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a

general meeting.
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F=A=+—HLFE CANETIIE)

8 TERARER

REBZRFERGERBEDFEGIRBEEERE
(B 16 AR R RIB TR A FE R ARG B E
BREERHRGIEARSFE ([RESFE]) - %
BB E AR ER/FURKETE - WHBIZIETEE
SEE - REBREDHE BEREREVARE
EEHNFEMNs% /RESFEER  MEHE
BRF & £ 830,000 7T © FE IS BN IR T
atE] o ARERBRRESE S F LA HREZANE R
BEMA - Eit - AEE Lt 575E G BIR %
I 8 B WA AT R HUR IR B UK

AEBRAFEEFABZORAENFEHETR A
636,609/ T (ZF=—4 : 918,589/8 ) °

BRESE

ARAET-T——F5 8 EERHAEEEE
RINEFMBERIL A BB ERE R NEE - —T—
—FHHEERECREARES HhERBYHE
HITEE  AEEEMES  EmEREHEER -
BEPRERE - —T—— 78R ——FN\A
NERAER - BREBUHSEBSN - BRENE AL
AT ERAR

BAITER PR 1 AR 1T 2 #O B 3% H B A e sl BN 1T i Y
ARRZFE——Fit @ REMBRETINER
- EETHORMNE R TREBBQ RN ETER
#30% - WEM+—EAMA  ARAR—_F——%F
FHEI REME RS SIS B R ERE R HEHY
BIRNEE  E&a ERARREREETROE
1% ° EE R ERABRER L - ARERA
BRI
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=ZF==%F=A=+—HILFE (LLETIIE)

Share option scheme (continued)

Share options granted to directors, chief executives or substantial
shareholders of the company, or to any of their associates, are
subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive
directors. In addition, any share options granted to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the
company, or to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the
shares of the company in issue at any time or with an aggregate
value (based on the price of the company’s shares at the date of
the grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period,
are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general

meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within
21 days from the date of the offer upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercisable
period of the share options granted is determinable by the
directors, and commences after a certain vesting period and ends
on a date which is not later than 10 years from the date of the
offer of the share options or the expiry date of the 2011 Scheme,
if earlier.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the
directors, but may not be less than the higher of (i) the closing
price of the company’s shares on the date of the offer of the share
options, (i) the average closing price of the company’s shares for
the five trading days immediately preceding the date of the offer;
and (iii) the nominal value of the share.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or
to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

On 9 July 2015, the company granted share options to certain
eligible participants to subscribe for an aggregate of 10,950,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the
company, represented approximately 1.18% of all the shares in
issue as at the date of the grant.

On 6 December 2016, the company further granted share options
to certain eligible participants to subscribe for an aggregate of
14,650,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the share capital
of the company, represented approximately 1.58% of all the
shares in issue as at the date of the grant.
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26 Share option scheme (continued) 26 ERESHE(E)
On 3 July 2018, the company had granted share options to certain RZZ—N\FEA=R ' ARFAMETEEBAL
eligible participants to subscribe for an aggregate of 13,000,000 45 3£13,000,000 % FAREE0.01 7% T # B AR
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the - MzEEREGREERL1.40%MHE FH1TR
company, represented approximately 1.40% of all the shares in o
issue as at the date of the grant.
On 4 July 2018, the company had granted share options to certain RZZTE—-—\FLtAMNAB AR ETEEBA
eligible participants to subscribe for an aggregate of 5,900,000 t&ﬁjé\#\&%o,oooﬁxHXEEO.OM%TEE’\JE%HX
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the - MzEEREGRLEER40.64%MHE 1T
company, represented approximately 0.64% of all the shares in o
issue as at the date of the grant.
(@) The following table details the company’s (@) FARBE-Z——FEKRLNE
share options in issue under the 2011 Scheme IR IR T ¢
during the year:
Number of exercisable and outstanding share options
AR REATTRAERE
Exercise price t 1 April Granted during  Lapsed during At 31 March
Participant Date of grant Exercisable period per share 2021 the year the year 2022
BRI W-B--# R=B=Zf
BERE pitilat:i e B mA-R R FREH ZA=t-H
HK$ 7
Independent non-executive directors 9 July 2015 9 January 2016 to 7 August 2021 0.154 1,800,000 - (1,800,000) -
BUIETES ZE-R%tAnA —E-"5-ANRZE
—Z--5\AtA
Directors of subsidiaries of the company 9 July 2015 9 January 2016 to 7 August 2021 0.154 3,750,000 - (3,750,000) -
ARANBARNES “Z-1EtANR 2 "5-ANBZ
ZEC-E/\AtA
Other employees 9 July 2015 9 January 2016 to 7 August 2021 0.154 3,250,000 - (3,250,000 -
EER ZE-R%tAnA “E-r"5-ANRZE
“Z--5\AtA
Executive directors 6 December 2016 5 June 2017 to 7 August 2021 0.146 2,700,000 - (2,700,000) -
#HiEs “ERETCARE Z :*fiﬁﬂﬁaﬁ
ZEC-F/\AtA
Independent non-executive directors 6 December 2016 5 June 2017 to 7 August 2021 0.146 1,800,000 - (1,800,000) -
BUFATES ZE-AETZAAE ZE-tERARAE
“Z--¥\AtA
Directors of subsidiaries of the company 6 December 2016 5 June 2017 to 7 August 2021 0.146 3,350,000 - (3,350,000) -
ARAAMBARNES “E-RETZARE :?ftﬁ/—\ﬂﬁﬁj%
“EC-F/\AtA
Other employees 6December 2016 5 June 2017 to 7 August 2021 0.146 3,300,000 - (3,300,000) -
EfbEE “Z—E+ZA5A “F—+ExATAZ

—F—

5

—\AtH
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26 Share option scheme (continued) 26 fEiR#EstEl (&)
(@) The following table details the company’s (@) FRARBE-ZT——FFERLENE
share options in issue under the 2011 Scheme IRFEFIBIIRAOT © (&)

during the year: (continued)

Number of exercisable and outstanding share options
AFT0R R A TRATEAR 2

Exercise price At 1 April Granted during  Lapsed during At 31 March

Participant Date of grant Exercisable period per share 2021 the year the year 2022

BRTE R-B-F R=B=Z#

BERE RHAH 18 B MA-A ERE ERXE  =A=1-H

HK$ETC

Executive directors 3 July 2018 3 August 2018 to 7 August 2021 0.075 2,700,000 - (2,700,000) -
HiTES ~%-\5tA=H ZZ-\§\H=RZE
“E--%\AtA

Independent non-executive directors 3 July 2018 3 August 2018 to 7 August 2021 0.075 1,800,000 - (1,800,000) -
BUFHTES —Z-\§tA=H Z2-\$¥\H=RZ
“E--%N\AtA

Directors of subsidiaries of the company 3 July 2018 3 August 2018 to 7 August 2021 0.075 4,600,000 - (4,600,000) -
ARANBARINES —Z-\$tH=H ZZ-\$¥\H=RZ
“E--%\AtA

Other employees 3 July 2018 3 August 2018 to 7 August 2021 0.075 2,550,000 - (2,550,000) -
HfhEE “Z-\$tH=H ZZ-\§¥\H=RZ
“E--%\AtA

Directors of subsidiaries of the company 4 July 2018 3 August 2018 to 7 August 2021 0.075 2,200,000 - (2,200,000) -
ARANBARNES —Z-\$tAmA Z2-\¥\H=RZ
“E--5\AtA

Other employees 4 July 2018 3 August 2018 to 7 August 2021 0.075 2,400,000 - (2,400,000) -
EfhEE —Z-\$tAmA “2-\¥/\H=RZ
“E--5N\AtA

Total 857 36,200,000 - (36,200,000) -

Weighted average exercise price (HK9)

T EER (BT 0.12
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26 Share option scheme (continued) 26 fERAERTE (&)
(@) The following table details the company’s () FRARE-Z=——FFHERENIE
share options in issue under the 2011 Scheme IREFIFIIRAOT : (&)

during the year: (continued)

Number of exercisable and outstanding share options
AT R EAITRAERE

Exercise price At 1 April Granted during Lapsed during At 31 March

Participant Date of grant Exercisable period per share 2020 the year the year 2021

BRF HW-T=ZF i —

RERE pilaki it ] B mA-R FRE Enim =A=1-A

HK$ %7

Independent non-executive directors 9 July 2015 9 January 2016 to 7 August 2021 0.154 2,700,000 - (900,0000 1,800,000
BuFaTES “Z-nEtANA 2 ¥-ANBZ
ZEC-E/\AtR

Directors of subsidiaries of the company 9 July 2015 9 January 2016 to 7 August 2021 0.154 3,750,000 = = 3,750,000
ARAAMELRNES “Z-RFtANA 2 5-ANBE
ZEC-E/\AtR

Other employees 9 July 2015 9 January 2016 to 7 August 2021 0.154 3,250,000 = = 3,250,000
EfbiEg “Z-hnEtANA 2 5-ANBZ
ZEC-E/\AtR

Executive directors 6 December 2016 5 June 2017 to 7 August 2021 0.146 2,700,000 = = 2,700,000
#Hi7ES “I-AETZARE ZE-tFRARAZE
ZEC-E/\AtR

Independent non-executive directors 6 December 2016 5 June 2017 to 7 August 2021 0.146 2,700,000 = (900,0000 1,800,000
BUFATES “E-~Et-ARE ZE-tEAARAZ
EC-E/\AtA

Directors of subsidiaries of the company 6 December 2016 5 June 2017 to 7 August 2021 0.146 3,350,000 = = 3,350,000
ARAAMBATNES “I-AET-ARE ZE-tFRARAZE
ZE-E/\AtR

Other employees 6 December 2016 5 June 2017 to 7 August 2021 0.146 3,300,000 = = 3,300,000
EfbiEg “S-AET-ARE ZE-tFRARAZE
ZE-F/\AtA
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=ZF==%F=A=+—HILFE (LLETIIE)

26 Share option scheme (continued) 26 fEiR#EstEl (&)
(@) The following table details the company’s (@) FRARBE-ZT——FFERLENE
share options in issue under the 2011 Scheme IRFEFIBIIRAOT © (&)

during the year: (continued)

Number of exercisable and outstanding share options
AFT0R R A TRATEAR 2

Exercise price At 1 April Granted during  Lapsed during At 31 March

Participant Date of grant Exercisable period per share 2020 the year the year 2021

BRiTE R-F-BE RIF_-%

BERE RAH 18 B MA-A ERE ER&R =ZA=t-R

HK$ A7

Executive directors 3 July 2018 3 August 2018 to 7 August 2021 0.075 2,700,000 = = 2,700,000
HOES —%2-\§tA=R “Z2-)\§\R=AZ%
“ZC-E/\AtH

Independent non-executive directors 3 July 2018 3 August 2018 to 7 August 2021 0.075 2,700,000 - (900,000) 1,800,000
BUFnTES —2-\§tA=R “Z2-\§\R=AZ
“Z-E/\AtH

Directors of subsidiaries of the company 3 July 2018 3 August 2018 to 7 August 2021 0.075 4,600,000 - = 4,600,000
ARANEARNES “2-)\§tA=R “Z2-)\§\R=AZ
“Z--£)\RtA

Other employees 3 July 2018 3 August 2018 to 7 August 2021 0.075 2,550,000 - - 2,550,000
EhEE —2-)\§tA=R “Z-\§\R=RZ
“Z2--£)\RtA

Directors of subsidiaries of the company 4 July 2018 3 August 2018 to 7 August 2021 0.075 2,200,000 = = 2,200,000
ARANBARNES “2-\§tAmA “Z-\§\R=AZ
“Z--£)\RtA

Other employees 4 July 2018 3 August 2018 to 7 August 2021 0.075 2,400,000 - - 2,400,000
EfbfER “Z-\$tARmA “Z2-\$/\A=R%
“Z--£)\RtA

Total B3 38,900,000 - (2,700,0000 36,200,000

Weighted average exercise price (HK$)
ETAHEER (BT 0.12
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Share option scheme (continued) 26 fERAESTE (&)
(@) The following table details the company’s (@ FARB-Z——FHERENE
share options in issue under the 2011 Scheme RFEFFEBIIRMT : (&)
during the year: (continued)
During the year ended 31 March 2022, total of 36,200,000 RZEZ_F=RA=+—H ' £236,200,000(=
(2021: 2,700,000) share options, were lapsed due to that the T~ —4 :2,700,000) B EREREA SN -
share option scheme was terminated on 7 August 2021 (2021: ——FNALBRLE(ZFE=—F : EF BT
one of the independent non-executive directors passed away), SEENTTE FEH) kR - mMHEA££2,206,700/8 T
and the total value of the share options lapsed of HK$2,206,700 (ZZ=—% : 183,600 70) KK EREITRF RN
(2021: HK$183,600) was transferred from share option reserve HEREREEEZABE HE T K =%
to accumulated losses during the year. No share options were Z—F=A=1+—HILFE  AEBEBEILRBITE
exercised by the eligible participants during the years ended 31 R REARAE -
March 2022 and 2021.
(b)  Fair value of options and assumption (b) BRENIAERRR
The fair value of services received in return for share options AREBNURTHBREMESHREN AR BELRER
granted is measured by reference to the fair value of share options BRENAAETS - BREBRENGGTAALER
granted. The estimate of the fair value of the share options —BERAEBEAE  c BRENSYVHAERENNZ—18
granted is measured based on a binominal model. The contractual BAZY - BHRRETENZ2E 0 A —BAER
life of the share options is used as an input into this model. oo
Expectations of early exercise are incorporated into the binomial
model.
The inputs into the model were as follows: R ALEAT
9 July 6 December 3 July 4 July
Date of grant B 2015 2016 2018 2018
—T— A —TRF —T)N\F =T N\F
+ANH +=ARH +A=H +AmMA
Total number of share options FERRAELE S 10,950,000 14,650,000 13,000,000 5,900,000
Fair value per option at grant date RHEAEGRAAE HK$0.094% 7t HK$0.087%7r HK$0.03/%#7  HK$0.03% 7T
Share price of the company at BHEBARRRE HK$0.1527%87C HK$0.146/87T HK$0.075/% 7 HK$0.0757%7T
the date of grant
Exercise price per share BRATEER HK$0.1547%7C HK$0.146/87T HK$0.075/%7C HK$0.0757%7T
Expected volatility TR I8 91% 76% 70% 70%
Option life BENR R R 6.08 years®  4.67 yearst 3.1 years& 3.1 years&
Expected dividend yield EHREEL Nl Nil % Nil % Nil =
Risk-free interest rate A [ B ) 2 1.26% 1.18% 1.98% 1.94%
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Share option scheme (continued) 26 HERESHE (&)
(b) Fair value of options and assumption (b) HBRENSASERRERR(E)

(continued)

The expected volatility is based on the historical volatility of the TEEIR B DR BE A A AR ERE LIRE - WRER
company’s share price and it is assumed there is no material EREFTHHRLSEEAEE - BEFTENEER
change over the whole life of share options. Change in the RIMEE - Al E R BN BEMME
subjective input assumptions could materially affect the fair value
estimate.
Save as disclosed above, no share options was granted, exercised B BT RSN - MANFE R A F W EBEAR A A
or cancelled in accordance with the terms of the share option i IR A ST B R M R~ 17158 LA KR BB 1o BB %
scheme of the company during both the current and prior year. o
Capital and reserves 27 EXRf#HE
(a) Share capital (@) mBx
Authorised and issued share capital ETE KRB BITIRA
2022 2021
—E-F —EB-—F
Number of Number of
shares HK$ shares HK$
RHEHE BT frin gk B BT
Authorised: SETERRA
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each SREME0.018 T E @A  2,000,000,000 20,000,000 2,000,000,000 20,000,000
Ordinary share, issued and fully paid:  B217 &R BAL B
At 1 April and at 31 March RUA—BE=A=+—8H 925,508,000 9,255,080 925,508,000 9,255,080
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as T ERFEABRETREBRAERAORE - WHE
declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share RAEEERE FRER—ZERERA - FIELBER

at meetings of the company. All ordinary shares rank equally with EAREBFIeREESEARSFHAL

regard to the company's residual assets.
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EXR e (&)

27 Capital and reserves (continued) 27

(b)  Nature and purpose of reserves
(i) Share premium

The application of the share premium account is governed by the
company's Articles of Association and the Companies Law of the
Cayman Islands, which provides that the share premium account
may be applied in making distributions or paying dividends to
members, provided that immediately following the date on which
distribution or dividend is proposed to be paid, the company will
be able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business. The share premium may also be distributed in the form
of fully paid bonus shares.

(i) Merger reserve

The group’s merger reserve represents the excess of the aggregate
of the nominal value of the share capital of the subsidiaries
acquired pursuant to the group reorganisation completed on 18
November 2000 on the nominal value of the share capital of the
company issued in exchange therefor.

(iii) Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences
arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policies set out in note 2(r).

(iv) Share option reserve

This reserve represents the fair value of the actual or estimated
number of unexercised share options granted to eligible persons,
including any director, employee, consultant or advisor of the
company and its subsidiaries or any associate of the company,
recognised in accordance with the accounting policies in note 2(t)iii).

() Distributability of reserves

At 31 March 2022 and 2021, none of the reserves of the company
is available for distribution to owners of the company, except for
the reserve as stated in note 27(b)(i).

(d) Capital management

The group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
so that it can continue to provide returns for owners and
benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing products and services
commensurately with the level of risk and by securing access to
finance at a reasonable cost.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=ZF==%F=A=+—HILFE (LLETIIE)

Capital and reserves (continued)
(d) Capital management (continued)

The group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to maintain a balance between the higher owner returns
and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital
position, and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of
changes in economic conditions.

The group monitors its capital structure on the basis of a net debt-
to-adjusted capital ratio. For this purpose, the group defines net
debt as total debt (which includes lease liabilities and trade and
other payables) plus unaccrued proposed dividends, less cash and
cash equivalents and pledged bank deposits. Adjusted capital
comprises all components of equity less unaccrued proposed
dividends.

During the year, the group’s strategy, which was unchanged from
2021, was to maintain the net debt-to-adjusted capital ratio below
50%. In order to maintain or adjust the ratio, the group may
adjust the amount of dividends to be paid to owners, issue new
shares, return capital to owners, raise new debt financing or sell
assets to reduce debt.

Financial risk management and fair values

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate, currency and equity price
risks arises in the normal course of the group’s business. These
risks are limited by the group’s financial management policies and
practices described below.

(@) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its
contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the group.
The group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to cash at banks,
trade receivables and contract assets. The group’s exposure
to credit risk arising from cash at banks is limited because the
counterparties are banks of good credit-rating for which the group
considers to have low credit risk.

Trade receivables and contract assets

The group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each customer rather than the
industry or country in which the customers operate and therefore
significant concentrations of credit risk primarily arise when the
group has significant exposure to individual customers. At the
end of the reporting period, 61% (2021: 46%) and 87% (2021:
96%) of the total trade receivables and contract assets was due
from the group’s largest customer and the five largest customers
respectively.

27

28

EXR it (&)
(d) EXEEE)
AREED KT HRTHERGHENES FEHE

Bk RERZ2RFEABERNKR - REL
BB S E S & AN g R D = S HEf -

AEEEFAEHRHBEEA L R SREEERE

BARE - il - ARERARE (BREEERR
iR S
%EI

11 1

AR B 5 R EL Al FE A 3008 0P FE AT ik 3% A
BRERS MRS EFEBYRERRRITER - &
ERBEMBEDR T EZZRERE

%

FA-AEENRBNR -2 - —F  2HFHLF
B EEFBRRANLLHIER50% KT o BT #EFFK
B AEE AR BRI TRRABRE
BITHAL - RERA TR SEFHEERESK
HEEENRDER -

TREREERAAE

AEHER -—REBERTELERFE  E2RD
AR SNERRERR - ELRBRERALE
I ERBR KL ERABMOT

(@) EERK

EERRESATFISERGOBELMERAKEE
EHBER - ARBEEERREIZERARNRTHE
R BHIREFARENEE - REFHRAKE
BREERBRRENA RIFEBFRORT - K
SERTREEENEERRER -

BIRYSFERENEE

AEERZEERRNEEEEXRREMIIERF
EXEMETEXBERNERNSELE - EERRE
SEERIFEEAEBRRIENERNTF R KE
e RREHR 61% (2T =——F : 46%) &
87% (ZF=—% :96% ) WA LEZEKFER
BHEEDFMBEAEENEARERARETFE °

ITE (Holdings) Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22 43R



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sre MR R MY AT

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

28

Financial risk management and fair values
(continued)

(@) Credit risk (continued)
Trade receivables and contract assets (continued)

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers
requiring credit over a certain amount. These evaluations focus on
the customer’s past history of making payments when due and
current ability to pay, and take into account information specific to
the customer as well as pertaining to the economic environment
in which the customer operates. Trade receivables are generally
due within 30 to 45 days from the date of billing. Negotiated on
a case-by-case basis, the credit terms granted to certain customers
could be up to three months. Normally, the group does not obtain
collateral from customers.

The group measures loss allowances for trade receivables and
contract assets at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is
calculated using a provision matrix. As the group'’s historic credit
loss experience does not indicate significantly different loss
patterns for different customer segments, the loss allowance
based on past due status is not further distinguished between the
group'’s different customer bases.

Based on the historic data, current conditions and the group’s
view of economic conditions over the expected lives of the trade
receivables and contract assets, the directors of the company have
considered the credit risk of trade receivables and contract assets
and note that there was no actual loss nor significant past due
experience over the past 5 years, including periods of unfavourable
economic conditions. The directors consider the aggregate risks
arising from the possibility of credit loss on trade receivables and
contract assets are not significant and no allowance for credit
losses were made as at 31 March 2022 and 2021.

(b) Liquidity risk

The group’s policy is to maintain sufficient cash and cash
equivalents or have available funding through an adequate
amount of committed annual credit facilities from banks to meet
its commitments over the next year in accordance with its strategic
plan. In the opinion of the directors of the company, the group
expects to have adequate sources of funding to finance the group
and manage the liquidity position.
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28 Financial risk management and fair values 28 <SREREERAAE (&)

(continued)

(b)  Liquidity risk (continued) (b) E:REMERE ()

The maturity profile of the group’s financial liabilities as at the end RMEERR - AEBRBEASRABBENRITER
of the reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted SMIIRAT

cash flows was as follows:

2022 —8=—%
Total Within  More than  More than
contractual 1year  1yearbut 2 years but
Carrying undiscounted oron less than less than
amount cash outflows demand 2 years 5 years

R—FR ZR—F SRME

BRRITE FEER BRER BRER

REE b ) H"E = H"E
HKS$ % 7T HKS$ 7% 7T HKS$ % 7T HKS$ % 7T HKS 7% 7T

Trade and other payables 5 REME ﬁxlﬁ

— Trade payables — ENE 57,840 57,840 57,840 - -

— Accrued charges and — ERER ﬁﬂf NE
other payables 2,537,543 2,537,543 2,537,543 - -
Lease liabilities HEGE 1,470,221 1,509,332 1,386,936 122,396 -
4,065,604 4,104,715 3,982,319 122,396 -

2021 =2 =—%F
Total Within More than More than
contractual 1 year 1yearbut 2 years but
Carrying undiscounted oron less than less than
amount cash outflows demand 2 years 5 years
A—F R LH—F EQNTES
ARIARITE FEEK BRERX BRER
REE Rend B B2 B
HK$ &7 HK$ BT HK$ AT HK$ &7t HK$ AT
Trade and other payables B9 R EMERNTIE

— Trade payables — ERE 5708 593,813 593,813 593,813 - -

— Accrued charges and — ERE A REMERR
other payables 4,853,615 4,853,615 4,853,615 — —
Lease liabilities HESE 3,939,897 4,125,138 2,185,368 1,749,035 190,735

9,387,325 9,572,566 7,632,796 1,749,035 190,735
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=F==F=A=+—HLFE (LLETIIE)

28 TREREERAE(E)

28 Financial risk management and fair values

(continued)
() Interest rate risk

The group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from its lease
liabilities, which are at fixed rate, expose the group to fair value
interest risk. The group does not use financial derivatives to hedge
against the interest rate risk.

The group’s significant interest-bearing assets are bank deposits.
The group’s interest income is dependent on changes in market
interest rates and will not have significant adverse impact on the

group'’s financial position.

A reasonably possible change of 100 basis points in interest
rates would have no significant impact on the group’s financial
performance and equity for both current and prior year.

(d)  Currency risk

The group is not exposed to significant foreign currency risk as
most of income and expenses giving rise to receivables, payables
and bank balances that are denominated in the functional
currency of the entities within the group.

(e)  Equity price risk

The group’s financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
measured at fair value at end of each reporting period. Therefore,
the group is exposed to equity price risk. The directors of the
company manage this exposure by maintaining its investments

under the group’s determined volatility range level.

At 31 March 2022, if the market price of the listed equity
securities had increased/decreased by 10% with all other variables
held constant, the group’s profit after tax and equity would have
been approximately HK$4,000 (2021: HK$nil) higher/lower.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Financial risk management and fair values 28

(continued)

(f)  Categories of financial instruments

are MR R MY AT

BE_ZT-_—_F=A=1+—HIFE (LABTIE)
cRRAMREERAAE (E)

() EBMIEANER

2022 —B==F 2021 —_ T —_—%F

HK$#® T HK$B T

Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at amortised cost BHEKANEREE 24,929,538 26,543,652

Financial assets at fair value through profit or FRERRANEREN SR

loss (held-for-trading) BE (FHEER) 52,360 =
24,981,898 26,543,652

Financial liabilities EEAs
Financial liabilities at amortised cost BHENANEREaE 4,065,604 9,387,325

(g) Fair values

All financial instruments are carried at amortised cost not
materially different from their fair values as at 31 March 2022 and
2021.

The carrying value of financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss are measured at fair value which is included in a category
of level 1, using quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical financial instruments, as defined under HKFRS 13.

Banking facility

At 31 March 2022, the time deposits of US$1,482,847
(equivalent to HK$11,565,893) (2021: US$1,482,163 (equivalent
to HK$11,560,594)) (note 19) have been pledged as securities
for banking facilities granted to the group on the performance
guarantee in respect of one of the projects of the group.

Material related party transactions and
balances

(@) Key management personnel remuneration
Remuneration for key management personnel of the group,

represents amounts paid to the company’s directors as disclosed in
note 8.

29

30

(99 2nE

AT AMARKAEBER "S- _2—
—F=A=+T—HHRAABEEEATRH -

BRBRBAAENEREEREERS — &5t
2 BREEBYBRELNFE 135 - MEMAERS
BT ANEETS CRGHAE) HIRE -

RITEME

RZTZZF=A=+—H 1,482,847 L (HE
11,565,893 7L) (ZEZ—4F : 1,482,163% T
(F855811,560,59487T)) (FifzE19) EEIFHER
FR1T  (ERERAEEETHENEERE &
ZEIFE R °

EXRBFEALXRS

(a) EREEAEMS

ARAAREBAESHSEEINARANEESHE
R TE8 B FE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
rE R ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=F==F=A=+—HLFE (LLETIIE)

30 Material related party transactions and 30 EABEEALTRS (&)
balances (continued)

(b)  Other related party transactions (b) EHMEEALTRS
The group entered into the following material related party ER REMITYIUTHEABRBATTS -

transactions during the year:

2022 —F=-—F 2021 —ZT=_—%F

HK$# T HK$#&7T
Management service income from an associate NG =S EY U N 240,000 240,000
Interest expenses on loans from related parties B A TEFREA S
— directors of the company — RRARES - 148,696
— directors of the company’s subsidiaries —ARRMBARES - 53,142
() There were no balances dealt with related () R-B-_—_R-_E-_—F=A=+
parties existed as at 31 March 2022 and 2021. — B W EAEAIRE R B HASER o
31 Subsidiaries’ information 31 WEBARER
At 31 March 2022 and 2021, particulars of the group’s principal UTFNEAEBR T -_—RK_T-_—F=H=+—
subsidiaries are as follows: BREZHBA RS :
Particulars
Place of Percentage of of issued
incorporation/ ownership and paid up Principal
Name of company establishment interest capital activities
Frit R ERTREBZ
NCIEZE =L RS it B ANk BEWFEE FEXEK
Indirect
LiEE3
2022 2021
—Bo—F T
ITE Smartcard Solutions Limited Hong Kong 100% 100% 3,418,336  Provision of solutions and
BIERBERAR B shares of services for smartcity and
HK$1 each smartcard

3,418,336/ AEEWMNE L RIZEAE
(FRXEET) R MRS

RF Tech Limited Hong Kong 100% 100% 2 shares of Manufacture and research
BB HK$1 each of smartcard system and
2/ service related products
(BREE1T) SERAREERAGIEH
Em
ITE Engineering Limited Hong Kong 100% 100% 2 shares of  Provision of solutions and
BB HK$1 each services for energy and

2/ sustainability
(BRREE1T) REERFAIRFELERRT

Ee
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the group which, in the FRITEZRRBIZZEREERFRUBH LRI
opinion of the directors, principally affected the financial performance K AR EE RS ETEAR SN B AT - B

for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the - B U -
RRWEEE MM E R RN FE RSB ERRERN
group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of BRI 2 AR 1 & 6 BUR B T

the directors, result in particulars of excessive length. e
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BHE_Z-_—FZA=1+—RALFE (AETIIE)

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Financial information of the company 32 ARQARWHKEER
(a) Statement of financial position (a) HEAMRE
2022 =ZB==F 2021 —T-—%F
HK$#E 7T HK$7& 7T
Non-current assets FRBEE
Investment in a subsidiary R E R R REE 4,000,000 4,442,140
Current assets REBEE
Deposits and prepayments HESERE- 227,720 215,901
Cash and cash equivalents ReERREEEY 2,525,794 763,468
2,753,514 979,369
Current liabilities nREEE
Accrued charges and other payables FETE FA K HoAth ST 5018 423,207 395,653
Net current assets REBEERE 2,330,307 583,716
Net assets BERE 6,330,307 5,025,856
Capital and reserves EXRf#E
Share capital &N 9,255,080 9,255,080
Reserves (note 32(b)) fiE# (FEE32(b) (2,924,773) (4,229,224)
Total equity B 6,330,307 5,025,856
(b) Details of changes in the company’s individual (b) FAXRQRRBBNERIESHEW
components of reserves during the year: I
Share
Share option Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
BRRE  BRERE REtEE At
HKS$A T HK$ 77T HK$ T HK$& 7T
At 1 April 2020 RZZE=ZFFHPA—H 20,239,745 2,390,300 (27,745,479)  (5,115,434)
Profit and total comprehensive iﬁ%ﬁﬂ&iﬁ%]\%@%ﬁ
income for the year - - 886,210 886,210
Lapse of share options KRR EBRHE
(note 26(a)) (FF5E26(a)) - (183,600) 183,600 -
At 31 March 2021 and RZT=—F=A=+—HK
1 April 2021 —ZE-—FMYAH—H 20,239,745 2,206,700 (26,675,669) (4,229,224)
Profit and total comprehensive — FE R F| & 2 B A 258
income for the year - - 5,931,991 5,931,991
Lapse of share options KRR
(note 26(a)) (FfizE26(a)) - (2,206,700) 2,206,700 -
Dividend in respect of previous — EFREHE &S 1+
year approved and paid (Fg7E10(b))
(note 10(b)) (4,627,540) - - (4,627,540)
At 31 March 2022 RZZE-—F=R=+—H 15,612,205 - (18,536,978) (2,924,773)
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

33

Accounting estimates and judgements

The management had made the following estimates and
assumptions in the process of applying the group’s accounting
policies, which are described in note 2, that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets
and liabilities as discussed below.

(@) Revenue and profit recognition

As explained in policy note 2(s), revenue from service contracts
are recognised over time. The revenue and profit recognition
on uncompleted projects is dependent on estimating the total
outcome of the contract, as well as the work done to date. Based
on the group’s recent experience and the nature of the service
activities undertaken by the group, the group has made estimates
of the point at which it considered the work was sufficiently
advanced such that the outcome of the contract can be reasonably
measured. Until this point is reached the related contract assets
disclosed in note 23(a) do not include profit which the group
might eventually realise from the work done to date. In addition,
actual outcomes in terms of total cost or revenue may be higher
or lower than estimated at the end of the reporting period, which
would affect the revenue and profit recognised in future years as
an adjustment to the amounts recorded to date.

(b)  Provision for expected credit losses of trade
receivables and contract assets

The group uses a provision of matrix to calculate ECLs for
trade receivables and contract assets. The provision rates are
based on days past due for groupings of various debtors that
have similar loss patterns. The provision matrix is based on
management’s estimate of the lifetime expected credit losses
to be incurred, which is estimated by taking into account the
credit loss experience, ageing of overdue trade receivables,
customers’ repayment history and customers’ financial position
and an assessment of both the current and forecast general
economic conditions, all of which involve a significant degree of

management judgement.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Accounting estimates and judgements
(continued)

(b)  Provision for expected credit losses of trade
receivables and contract assets (continued)

The provision of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances
and involves the forecast of general economic conditions. The
information about the ECLs and the group’s trade receivables
and contract assets are disclosed in note 28(a). If the financial
condition of the customers or the forecast economic conditions
were to deteriorate, actual loss allowance would be higher than
estimated.

(c) Deferred tax

Estimating the amount for deferred tax assets arising from tax
losses requires a process that involves forecasting future years’
taxable income and assessing the group’s ability to utilise tax
benefits through future earnings. Where the actual future profits
generated are more or less than expected, a recognition or reversal
of the deferred tax assets may arise, which would be recognised
in profit or loss for the period in which such a recognition or
reversal takes place. While the current operations indicate that the
unused tax losses cannot be utilised in the future, any changes
in assumptions, estimates and tax regulations can affect the
recoverability of this unrecognised deferred tax asset.

33
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ire MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=F==F=A=+—HLFE (LLETIIE)

34 Possible impact of new and revised
standards and interpretations issued but
not yet effective for the year ended 31
March 2022

Up to the date of issue of these consolidated financial statements,
the HKICPA has issued a number of amendments to standards
and interpretations which are not yet effective for the year ended
31 March 2022 and which, the others have not been adopted in
the consolidated financial statements. These include the followings
which may be relevant to the group:

3 BE-—E-_—F=A=+—HIHE
EEEMHERERNIEET - FHER
REREBENBESE

BENSGAMBHRRTIEZA BESHAE
EEMZIRERT  FERRRE  EREE_F—
THE=ZRA=1THLEFEMRER  LARREE Y
TEIRRERA © AT RF pEEIAR S E A M IFX

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

TR
k2 14 BItAE
R e
Amendments to HKFRS 3 BB R EIRAEET 1 January 2022
“Reference to the Conceptual Framework” - BSEZR AR —E-fF—-H—H
Amendments to HKAS 16 BB EAZE 165RAEET 1 January 2022
“Property, plant and equipment: Proceeds before Intended - W% BEREE - ERERE —T-——F—H—HR
Use"” AR PTS 5RIE
Amendments to HKAS 37 ARG EREI7RAERT 1 January 2022
“Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract” - BEMEHN - BITanRA —ET-_—_F—H—H
Annual improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 cycle 2018 E 2020 F BB M A ZEHIH 1 January 2022
FREIE T —_F—H—H
Amendments to HKAS 1 ERGFTENE 1 RAIEET 1 January 2023
“Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current” - BEHE RN IERNE B =
Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 BB EAE 1RNER] REH 1 January 2023
SRS AR B E 5B 2 SRR
“Disclosure of Accounting Policies” - SETBCRHE B =
Amendments to HKAS 8 BB LA ESRAIEET 1 January 2023
“Definition of Accounting Estimates” - BEHMAETHIER —E-=%—f—H
Amendments to HKAS 12 ARG EAE 129RAEFT 1 January 2023
“Deferred Tax Related to Assets and Liabilities Arising from a - BE—QFEANEERBENR —T=F—H—H
Single Transaction” AR IEIER IR
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 BBV WELEZ 10 REH To be determined
“Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its BRI 285 AIER] HEE
Associate or Joint Venture” - REEREHEBENRSNEERE
ZHEMEELESEE

The group is in the process of making an assessment of what the
impact of these developments is expected to be in the period of
initial application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of
them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the consolidated
financial statements.
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Five Year Summary

hFHE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)  (SA/ITI(E)
2021/22 2020/21 2019/20 2018/19 201718
TB--FE-Cf ZZ-TE--F ZT-NECTF ZT)E-NF ZE+tE\F
HK$%E T HK$ 77T HK$ 77T HK$ 77T HK$ 7T
Results £
Revenue Wiz 32,655,984 49,749,878 44,345,206 24,791,363 25,435,931
Profit/(loss) from operations gEET/(B1B) 6,251,966 8,453,187 1,023,284 (3,455,685) 1,302,715
Profit/(loss) before taxation BEATEN /(58) 6,251,966 8,453,187 1,023,284 (3,455,685) 1,302,715
Income tax (expense)/credit PSR () #E (89,780) = - - 19,139
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to AR A AFREEER
owners of the company wfl/ (BE) 6,162,186 8,453,187 1,023,284 (3,455,685) 1,321,854
Assets and liabilities EERAHE
Non-current assets ERBEE 1,754,063 4,293,254 3,826,567 3,716,138 199,680
Net current assets MEEETE 20,916,132 18,624,044 10,731,001 10,455,263 14,612,976
Non-current liabilities ErBak (121,242) (1,886,322) (1,610,313) (2,247.430) -
Net assets BEFE 22,548,953 21,030,976 12,947,255 11,923,971 14,812,656
Earnings/(loss) per share SREF/(F8R)
Basic (HK cents) EA () 0.67 0.91 0.11 (0.37) 0.14
Diluted (HK cents) B8 (75{lL) 0.67 0.91 0.11 (0.37) 0.14
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